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Breakdown of gross sales
by product category 

Performance trends

Cash flow
from operating
activities
Operating result
Net income

(CHF million)

BUSINESS PROGRESS AND KEY FINANCIAL DATA

The Group

In 2004, Group gross sales increased 4.7% (+6.2% at constant exchange rates). All of the Group’s business segments posted sales
growth. The watch segment saw the strongest growth at +7.3% (+9.1% at constant exchange rates). In 2004, the negative currency
translation effect reduced Group sales by CHF 60 million, with a stronger impact on growth in the second half of the year. Whereas
the first half of 2004 was relatively good compared to the weaker first six months of 2003, adverse currency movements took a much
bigger toll in the second half of 2004 with a currency loss of CHF 56 million. The Group nevertheless managed to make positive
progress in all segments, even in the second half of the year. Had the accounts been presented in dollars (USD), the Group would
have posted sales growth of 12.9% for the year.

The Group reported a very solid 9.6% increase in its 2004 operating income (EBIT) to CHF 651 million, and net profit was up 4.1% to
CHF 512 million.

Restatements
In order to account more accurately for the different types of key money paid for shops rented in strategic locations, the Swatch
Group defined a new accounting policy for these assets in the reporting year 2004. These are now split into two categories and
accounted for in two different ways.
In addition, income related to the timekeeping and sports results displays for the Olympic Games and other sports events are no
longer included under sales but recognized under «Other operating income».
A detailed explanation of these changes and their impact on the consolidated financial statements is given in the summary of signif-
icant accounting policies applied to the consolidated financial statements on page 118.
These changes have already been incorporated in the following figures for the consolidated accounts, the segments and the notes.

All the Group’s internal statistics are based on gross sales. Gross sales to third parties are broken down into two main categories,
summarized in the following table:

2004 2003 % change 
Total unit sales: watches, movements, stepper motors (1 000 units) 127 243 127 090 +0.1
Sales of watches, movements and stepper motors (CHF million) 3 343 3 187 +4.9
Other sales (CHF million) 809 779 +3.9
Total sales (CHF million) 4 152 3 966 +4.7
Average price of watches, movements and stepper motors (CHF) 26.27 25.08      +4.7

The total unit sales include sales of stepper motors, of which 27.5 million units were sold in 2003 and 28.3 million in 2004.
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Watches

(CHF million) 2004 2003 % change
In local Currency Total

currencies effect
Gross sales 3 135 2 921 +9.1 –1.8 +7.3
Operating result before depreciation and amortization 598 558 +7.2
(EBITDA)
– As a % of gross sales 19.1 19.1
Operating result (EBIT) 555 516 +7.6
– As a % of gross sales 17.7 17.7

Watches are the Swatch Group’s core activity, and in 2004 this segment again posted above-average growth. The prestige, luxury
and high ranges saw double-digit growth in 2004, whereas the other segments reported single-digit growth. Currency translation
reduced sales growth for the entire Watch segment by CHF 52 million or 1.8%, almost all of which occurred in the second half of the
year. 
Thanks to targeted product and marketing initiatives, the Breguet brand once again posted excellent growth and a strong increase
in market share. Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, Léon Hatot and Omega also reported a similar trend, confirming the market
potential of the luxury/prestige segment. Omega, which in absolute terms made the strongest contribution to growth, raised its
average prices in a number of markets and consolidated its unrivalled leadership position. Longines and Rado also made consider-
able progress strengthening their market positions. 
In the middle range, the brands Tissot and cK both registered growth of close to 10%, while in the basic range, Swatch and Flik Flak
saw more modest growth rates. This range has been most affected by the strength of the Swiss franc and the weakness of the dollar,
and price increases are only possible on a very selective basis. At the same time, these are the ranges that are most exposed to
competition from watches made in China. 
Whereas Europe proved to be a challenging market for a number of brands, sales growth in both Asia and the Middle-East has been
very positive indeed.
The Group’s market share gains in 2004 were essentially driven by the combined positive effects of extremely cautious pricing
strategy, which was continued through 2004, a highly attractive product offering in all price segments, and global distribution
capabilities. 

Production of watches, movements and components

(CHF million) 2004 2003 % change 
In local Currency Total

currencies effect
Gross sales
– Third parties 514 562
– Group 770 677
– Total 1 284 1 239 +4.1 –0.5 +3.6
Operating result before depreciation and amortization 166 152 +9.2
(EBITDA)
– As a % of gross sales 12.9 12.3
Operating result (EBIT) 50 33 +51.5
– As a % of gross sales 3.9 2.7

As already announced in our interim report, the Watch Production division saw a sharp rebound during the second half of 2004.
Although orders from third parties were still below the year-earlier level, this was more than offset by growing demand from the
Group’s brands. Part of the improvement in Group operating profit in 2004 was driven by the design and manufacture of jewelry for
the Breguet, Léon Hatot, Omega, cK and Swatch brands and by the centralization of diamond purchasing activities for all the Group’s
brands. 
In the near future, this segment will be further strengthened by the Group’s business development plans and new rationalization
measures.
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Electronic systems

(CHF million) 2004 2003 % change
In local Currency Total

currencies effect
Gross sales
– Third parties 494 468
– Group 49 43
– Total 543 511 +6.5 –0.2 +6.3
Operating result before depreciation and amortization 125 109 +14.7
(EBITDA)
– As a % of gross sales 23.0 21.3
Operating result (EBIT) 74 64 +15.6
– As a % of gross sales 13.6 12.5

Overall, the different production units in the Electronic Systems division showed a very positive development in 2004. Momentum
slackened somewhat in the second half of the year, however, due mainly to a cyclical slowdown in the electronics and mobile
telephony industries. The effects of this slowdown were most noticeable at Renata and Micro Crystal. On top of this, they were
exposed to ongoing pressure on prices, which is even more pronounced when the industry is in a downturn. The strength of the Swiss
franc also impacted dollar-denominated sales in the dollar area, particularly in the second half of the year. 

General services

(CHF million) 2004 2003 2003
restated published

Gross sales
– Third parties 9 15 32
– Group 2 1 11
– Total 11 16 43
Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) –20 –14 –14
Operating result (EBIT) –28 –19 –19

The General Services division includes the service, finance, research and real estate companies of the Group. Income recognized as
sales in this segment relates chiefly to research contracts as well as real estate management and consulting fees.
Timekeeping for the Olympic Games and other sporting events is not considered to be core business of the Group. Consequently,
third-party income from this activity, which amounted to CHF 96 million in 2004 (2003: CHF 17 million), is now recognized in «Other
operating income» and not in sales. Corresponding figures for 2003 have been restated. The General Services segment invoices client
brands in the Watch segment for timekeeping services it provides.

Analysis of value added 

The breakdown of total operating revenues, more commonly referred to as total Group performance in calculations of value added
(using standard methods), is as follows:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Overall Group performance 4 335 4 024
Material and services –2 195 –1 943
Depreciation –218 –216
Net added value 1 922 1 865
% change 3.1 –1.2
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Net added value 44%
Depreciation 5%
Material and services 51%

Employees 67%
Lenders 1%
Shareholders 4%
Public authorities 6%
Company 22%
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The following chart shows the breakdown of total operating revenues in 2004:

At the end of 2004, the breakdown of value added between the different beneficiaries was as follows:

OUTLOOK FOR 2005

The Board of Directors and Group management are confident that the Swatch Group will post solid growth in Swiss francs in 2005
as long as there is no further deterioration in exogenous factors such as exchange rates and the global economy.
The Group’s strong cash flow and very sound financial position offer plenty of scope for other developments, with the current focus
on organic growth via the launch of new products and the development of new markets. However, external growth opportunities will
also be examined as and when they arise.
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(1) 4 152 100.0 3 966 100.0

–171 –4.1 –138 –3.5

3 981 95.9 3 828 96.5

125 3.0 45 1.1

146 3.5 43 1.1

30 0.7 24 0.6

–921 –22.2 –806 –20.3

(2) –1 277 –30.7 –1 262 –31.8

–1 215 –29.3 –1 067 –26.9

869 20.9 805 20.3

–203 –4.9 –197 –5.0

–15 –0.3 –14 –0.3

651 15.7 594 15.0

(4) –26 –0.6 –1 –0.1

625 15.1 593 14.9

(5) –107 –2.6 –96 –2.4

518 12.5 497 12.5

–6 –0.2 –5 –0.1

512 12.3 492 12.4

(6)

1.77 1.69

1.76 1.68

(6)

8.83 8.43

8.81 8.41

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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Notes 2004 2003

CHF million % CHF million %

Gross sales

Sales reductions

Net sales

Other operating income

Changes in inventories and work in progress

Capitalized expenditures

Material purchases

Personnel expense

Other operating expenses

Operating result before depreciation & amortization (EBITDA)

Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets (excluding goodwill)

Amortization of goodwill

Operating result (EBIT)

Net financial result

Result before taxes

Income tax

Result before minority interest

Minority interest

Net income

Registered shares

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

Bearer shares

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share
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(8) 1 161 19.3 1 085 19.3 

(8) 27 0.4 16 0.3 

(7) 256 4.3 272 4.8 

(9) 4 0.1 4 0.1 

(9) 43 0.7 43 0.8 

(19) 120 2.0 96 1.7 

1 611 26.8 1 516 27.0

(10) 1 615 26.9 1 481 26.4 

(11) 646 10.7 662 11.8 

(12) 338 5.6 341 6.1 

(13) 426 7.1 321 5.7 

(14) 1 375 22.9 1 294 23.0 

4 400 73.2 4 099 73.0

6 011 100.0 5 615 100.0

Assets 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Notes CHF million % CHF million %

Property, plant and equipment

Investment property

Intangible assets

Investments in associated companies

Other financial assets

Deferred tax assets

Non-current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables and prepayments

Available-for-sale investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Current assets

Total assets

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
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(15) 137 2.3 137 2.4 

213 3.5 213 3.8 

(16, 21) –518 –8.6 –369 –6.6 

(26) –120 –2.0 –97 –1.7 

4 549 75.7 4 122 73.4 

4 261 70.9 4 006 71.3

15 0.2 10 0.2

(18) 395 6.6 394 7.0  

(19) 344 5.7 317 5.7  

(20) 30 0.5 27 0.5 

(17) 34 0.6 30 0.5 

803 13.4 768 13.7

(22) 646 10.8 567 10.1 

(18) 224 3.7 204 3.6 

(17) 62 1.0 60 1.1 

932 15.5 831 14.8

1 735 28.9 1 599 28.5

6 011 100.0 5 615 100.0

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

consolidated financial statements

swatch group   annual report 2004

Liabilities and shareholders‘ equity 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Notes CHF million % CHF million %

Share capital

Capital reserves

Treasury shares

Other reserves

Retained earnings

Shareholders‘ equity

Minority interest

Borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities

Retirement benefit obligations

Non-current provisions

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 

and accrued expenses

Borrowings

Current provisions

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total liabilities and shareholders‘ equity
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(23) 774 710

–20 –13

14 12

–85 –82

683 627

(24) 0 –37

–292 –204

12 25

–15 –8

3 5

–8 –17

2 0

–93 120

–391 –116

–85 –64

0 –11

(16) –148 1

–3 395

27 25

–209 346

1 –3

84 854

1 289 435

(14) 1 373 84 1 289 854

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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2004 2003

Notes CHF million CHF million

Operating activities

Cash generated from operations

Interest paid

Interest received

Tax paid

Cash flow from operating activities

Investing activities

Acquisition of consolidated companies (without liquid funds)

Purchases of tangible assets

Proceeds from sale of tangible assets

Purchases of intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets

Purchases of financial assets

Proceeds from sale of financial assets

Purchase/sale of available-for-sale investments

Cash flow from investing activities

Financing activities

Dividend paid to shareholders

Dividend paid to minority interests

Purchase/sale of treasury shares

Change in non-current liabilities

Change in current liabilities

Cash flow from financing activities

Net impact of foreign exchange rate differences on cash

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

Change in cash and cash equivalents

– At beginning of year

– At end of year
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137 213 –369 –20 3 580 3 541

–114 114 0

137 213 –369 –134 3 694 3 541

–9 –9

16 16

30 30

–64 –64

492 492

0

137 213 –369 –97 4 122 4 006

137 213 –369 –97 4 122 4 006

–22 –22

0

–1 –1

–85 –85

512 512

–149 –149

137 213 –518 –120 4 549 4 261

CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
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Share Capital Treasury Other Retained Total

capital reserves shares reserves earnings shareholders’

(Note 15) (Note 16) (Note 26) equity

(CHF million)

Balance at 01.01.2003 (published)

Reclassification of fair value reserves (Note 26)

Balance at 01.01.2003 (restated)

Translation differences and other changes

Convertible bond: allocation to equity (option part)

Available-for-sale investments:

Remeasurement at fair value

Dividends paid

Net income for the year

Share repurchase

Balance at 31.12.2003

Balance at 01.01.2004

Translation differences and other changes

Convertible bond: allocation to equity (option part)

Available-for-sale investments:

Remeasurement at fair value

Dividends paid

Net income for the year

Share repurchase

Balance at 31.12.2004
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General principles and
accounting standards

Changes in 
accounting policies

ACCOUNTING AND CONSOLIDATION POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of The Swatch Group Ltd, Neuchâtel, have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards) as published by the IASB (International Accounting Standards Board) and in accordance with
the interpretations published by the IFRIC – the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB. These finan-
cial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2005 and will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders for approval on 18 May 2005.
The general accounting principles are, with the following exceptions, the same as those applied to the financial statements as at 
31 December 2003.

IFRS 3 relating to business combinations affects the accounting methods applied to all new acquisitions as of 31 March 2004. The
revised standards IAS 36 and IAS 38 have also been applied for transactions as from this date. 
In addition, the items described in the following paragraphs have been restated.

Change in the presentation of key money
In order to account more accurately for the different types of key money that the Group pays when renting shops in strategic
locations, the Swatch Group defined a new accounting policy for this type of assets during the second half of 2004. This policy has
been applied to the accounts retroactively to 1 January 2004. For comparison purposes, the 2003 figures have been restated (see
Notes 7 and 9). Previously, all key money was classified under intangible assets. It is now split into two categories. Key money for
which a market exists continues to be classified under intangible assets. However, key money that is only refundable upon certain
conditions being met is treated as prepaid rent. The long-term portion is accounted for under «Other financial assets», while the
short-term portion is accounted for under «Other receivables and prepayments». This second category of key money is initially capital-
ized and then amortized on a straight-line basis over the residual period of the lease via the item «Other operating expenses». 

Changes in accounting treatment of Olympic Games activities
The Swatch Group has given a provisional commitment to supply the timekeeping and sports results displays for the Olympic Games
up to the year 2010 in return for advertising and identification rights. All in all, this results in a net expense for the Group. Since
timekeeping is not a core activity of the Group, these transactions will in future be presented in the financial statements as gross
amounts under the items «Other operating income» and «Other operating expenses», and will not be included in Group sales.

In addition, the positions «Assets held for sale» and «Other receivables and prepayments» were combined.

These restatements result in the following changes to the financial statements:

Consolidated income statement
2003 2003 Change

(CHF million) restated published %

Gross sales 3 966 3 983 –17 –0.4
– Other operating income 45 28 17
– Other operating expenses –1 067 –1 062 –5
Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 805 810 –5 –0.6
– Depreciation of fixed assets –197 –202 5
Operating result (EBIT) 594 594 0 0.0

Consolidated balance sheet
2003 2003 Change

(CHF million) restated published %

– Intangible assets 272 315 –43
– Other financial assets 43 6 37
Non-current assets 1 516 1 522 –6 –0.4
– Other receivables and prepayments 341 334 7
– Assets held for sale 0 1 –1
Current assets 4 099 4 093 6 0.1
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Consolidated companies

Watch segment

2003 2003 Change
(CHF million) restated published %

Gross sales 2 921 2 921 0 0.0
Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 558 563 –5 –0.9
- As a % of gross sales 19.1 19.3
Operating result (EBIT) 516 516 0 0.0
- As a % of gross sales 17.7 17.7

Other information
2003 2003 Change

(CHF million) restated published

Amortization of intangible assets 14 19 –5

General Services segment
2003 2003 Change

(CHF million) restated published

Gross sales – Third parties 15 32 –17
Gross sales – Group 1 11 –10
Gross sales 16 43 –27
Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) –14 –14 0
Operating result (EBIT) –19 –19 0

These restatements have already been incorporated into the consolidated accounts and the notes.

The Swatch Group did not opt for earlier application of the new or revised standards prior to their entry into force on 1 January 2005.
The Group is currently working on adoption of the new standards and believes that as things stand today the most significant
changes that are likely to have any impact on the Group’s future results are the following: the adoption of the new and revised
standards in the accounting treatment of goodwill amortization, employee remuneration via options and similar instruments, and
financial instruments.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following assets and
liabilities that have been recognized at fair value: derivative financial instruments, investments held for trading purposes and assets
held for sale. Income and expenses for the financial period are recognized in accordance with the accrual method of accounting.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities and contingent assets and liabilities at the closing date of the consolidated financial
accounts as well as of income and expenses during the period. These estimates may differ from actual outcomes.
The annual closing date for all the individual company accounts is 31 December. For all the companies consolidated, the financial
year corresponds to the calendar year. 

The consolidated companies are controlled either directly or indirectly by the Holding, The Swatch Group Ltd, either via ownership of
more than half the voting rights or its control of the financial and operational activities of the company. The companies under the
control of the Swatch Group are consolidated as of the date on which control was transferred to the Swatch Group and, inversely,
are deconsolidated as of the date on which the Swatch Group no longer exercises full control. All income and expenses relating to
internal transactions within the Swatch Group, including unrealized gross profits (margins on inventories), as well as debts and
receivables on intra-group deliveries have been eliminated on consolidation. The accounting principles of all the consolidated compa-
nies have been adapted, where necessary, to comply fully with the accounting principles adopted by the Swatch Group.
Newly-acquired companies are consolidated from the effective date of acquisition or assumption of control, using the purchase
method.
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Consolidation

Joint ventures

Associated companies

Currency translation

At the end of 2004, the Swatch Group’s consolidated financial statements included 135 legal entities (compared with 129 the
previous year), of which five were associated companies (three in 2003).
In 2004 the following significant changes to the group of consolidated companies occurred:
Seven new companies were established, of which three are retail companies (in France, China and Portugal), two are distribution
companies (in Taiwan and Poland) and two are service companies (in Switzerland and Hong Kong).
The company Nouvelle Lémania SA is no longer included following its merger with Montres Breguet SA.
The Swatch Group employs a divisionalized system where a number of activities are managed within the same legal entity. In this
system, the 135 companies in the Swatch Group are divided into 749 reporting units (687 in 2003) which form the basis of the Group’s
consolidation structure. The increase in the number of these reporting units has resulted from the ongoing drive to enhance the
transparency of information within the Group and provide a clearer picture of the performance of the management responsible for
each different activity.
A full list of consolidated companies is published on pages 144 to 146 of this annual report.
Three companies due to be liquidated (12 in 2003) have been removed from the group of consolidated companies. This has no
material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

All the joint ventures in which the Swatch Group has a 50% interest have been consolidated on a proportional basis. According to
this method, the Group consolidates in its annual financial statements its attributable proportion of income, expenses, assets, liabil-
ities, and cash flow.
At 31 December 2004, none of the companies consolidated in the Swatch Group’s financial statements were classified as joint
ventures (one in 2003).

Associated companies are included by the equity method. These are companies where the Swatch Group owns 20% to 50% of the
voting rights or exercises a significant influence without controlling management. The value of the Group’s investments in associated
companies does not currently include any goodwill. 
At 31 December 2004, five entities were classified as associated companies. These were Danyack SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds, François
Golay SA, Le Brassus, Terbival SA, Courchapoix, HiPoint Technology Inc., Colorado Springs, and S.I. Les Corbes SA, Savagnier.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and presented in Swiss francs. Each subsidiary of the Group prepares its
financial statements in the currency which is of the greatest economic relevance to the underlying events. The income statements
of the foreign subsidiaries are translated at the average exchange rate for the year whereas the balance sheets are translated at
year-end exchange rates. When a foreign subsidiary is sold, any accumulated currency translation differences are recognized in the
consolidated income statement as gains or losses on disposals.
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries reporting in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy are accounted for in accor-
dance with IAS 29 using the appropriate indices, before being translated into Swiss francs. Any gain or loss on net monetary
positions is included in net financial income. In both 2004 and 2003, none of the Group’s companies reported in currencies of this
type.
Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date; any gains or losses
resulting from these transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in the consolidated income statement.

The main exchange rates used are:

Average rates Prevailing rates Average rates Prevailing rates
2004 31.12.2004 2003 31.12.2003
CHF CHF CHF CHF

1 AUD 0.9151 0.8850 0.8793 0.9285
1 CAD 0.9581 0.9425 0.9629 0.9575
1 EUR 1.5463 1.5450 1.5253 1.5600
1 GBP 2.2786 2.1850 2.2038 2.2100
1 HKD 0.1599 0.1460 0.1724 0.1600

100 JPY 1.1573 1.1050 1.1610 1.1615
1 SEK 0.1693 0.1710 0.1670 0.1718
1 SGD 0.7370 0.6950 0.7682 0.7270
1 USD 1.2457 1.1350 1.3436 1.2430
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Financial risk 
management

Financial risk
In view of the global and varied nature of the Group’s activities, specialists within the Group actively manage the risks associated
with movements in exchange rates, interest rates and prices of securities in the financial markets.
The Group’s risk management is essentially focused on identifying and analyzing exchange rate risk, with the aim of minimizing its
impact on Group EBITDA and net income. In order to manage exchange rate risk, the Group enters into agreements with third parties
involving the use of derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts or currency hedging options.
Risk management is conducted by the Group’s treasury department, which follows the directives issued by the Group’s management
bodies. Risks are assessed in collaboration with the operating units and the hedging methods are decided and implemented under
supervision of the Finance Committee.

Exchange rate risk
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are published in Swiss francs and are therefore mainly exposed to fluctuations in the
euro, the US dollar, the Japanese yen and other currencies in Asia. In order to minimize the risk attached to expected foreign currency
earnings, the Group employs forward rate agreements and currency hedging options. Group companies conclude special exchange
rate contracts with the Group’s treasury department guaranteeing a standard exchange rate for a term of one month. The treasury
department, for its part, is responsible for hedging net positions in foreign currencies with external counterparties. 

Interest rate risk
All interest-bearing financial assets are monitored and managed actively. In the current monetary environment, interest rate fluctu-
ations do not have a major impact on the Group’s financial results.
In the context of balance sheet liabilities management, the Group has not used interest rate swaps during the two years under
review, and there are no outstanding positions relating to interest rate swaps in the Group’s financial statements. 

Credit risk
The Group’s client credit policy necessitates periodical reviews of the credit standing of our commercial partners. 
In purchasing securities, the Group guards against the risk of default by implementing directives that impose minimum credit ratings
for investments in tradeable securities. The Group’s management regularly monitors strict compliance with these directives. 
Counterparty risk is also minimized by ensuring that all derivative financial instruments, money market investments and current
account deposits are placed with financial institutions whose credit standing has been verified by our treasury department before-
hand. Exposure to this type of risk is closely monitored by Group management and is contained within strict and pre-determined
limits. 
Given the very high standards of creditworthiness applied to our commercial and financial partners, the default risks to which the
Group is exposed are limited.

Liquidity risk
The close monitoring of liquidity at Group level and of the allocation of resources allows the Group’s treasury department to maintain
adequate levels of liquidity at all times. In order to meet any exceptional liquidity requirements, the Swatch Group maintains lines of
credit with a number of financial institutions. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are recognized at their cost at inception either as cash flow hedges or as fair value hedges, depending on the nature of
the underlying transaction. Any subsequent remeasurements to fair value are either taken to the income statement (fair value
hedges) or recognized in shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedges).
In the case of cash flow hedges, a distinction is made between time value and intrinsic value when calculating the premium and the
replacement value at a given date.
The time value paid is recognized as soon as the position is taken. When a contract is valued at a given date, the adjustment of the
time value is taken to the income statement while the adjustment in the intrinsic value is recognized in shareholders’ equity.
As soon as the hedge of the underlying asset becomes active, and may be considered effective, the time values of the hedged item
and the hedging transaction are determined. Any difference between the two values is taken to the income statement. In the case
of cash flow hedges, any value adjustment recorded in the previous period under shareholders’ equity will be transferred to the
income statement. 
Details of hedging operations are given on page 141.
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Recognition of income
and expenses

Net financial result

Income tax

Intangible assets

Determining fair value
The fair value of financial assets that are tradeable and available for sale is deemed to be their corresponding stock market closing
prices on the balance sheet date. Derivatives and forward rate contracts are also recognized at their market value on the account
closure date.

Gross sales essentially include the activities of the Group’s core business, which contains the segments Watches, Watch Production
and Electronic Systems. Sales are based on the prices at which goods and services are delivered to clients after deduction of value
added tax. Gross sales correspond to invoiced prices before application of discounts, concessions or other deductions. All price
deductions are reported as reductions of sales in the consolidated income statement. Provisions for discounts granted to clients are
established during the same period as the sales which gave rise to the discounts under the terms of the contract.

This item includes interest expense on capital borrowed from outside the Group as well as interest income on funds placed with third
parties. It also includes currency translation differences and the net results of currency and interest rate hedging operations in
respect of borrowings outside the Group and funds placed with third parties in foreign currencies.

This item only includes taxes on income. Other taxes, such as capital tax and property tax, are included in other operating expenses.
The effect of taxes on the various components of shareholders’ equity is likewise recognized in equity in line with the underlying
transaction.
Deferred taxes are calculated according to the so-called liability method, based on temporary differences between assets and liabil-
ities as recognized and valued by the tax authorities and those as applied by the Swatch Group in the preparation of its consolidated
balance sheet. The main temporary differences concern depreciation charges on buildings, plant and equipment, value adjustments
on current assets, provisions of an equity nature in the tax accounts and tax losses carried forward. In relation to acquisitions, these
relate to differences between the fair value of the net assets acquired and their tax base.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, tax loss carry forwards, and tax credits when it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized.
No deferred tax has been recognized on temporary differences relating to the Group’s interest in the fair value of consolidated
subsidiaries and associated companies to the extent that it is probable that these differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Unless a dividend payout is planned, no provisions for withholding tax or other taxes on the undistributed earnings of associ-
ated companies have been established because the profits are usually reinvested.
Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates prevailing on the balance sheet date or those announced for the date on
which the taxable or tax-deductible amounts are likely to be realized.

In addition to the items mentioned separately below, this heading also includes:

– Licenses purchased granting rights to use new state-of-the-art technologies. Related lump-sum payments have been capitalized
and amortized over a period of five years;

– Key money paid for strategically located retail shops. If their value can be demonstrated by the presence of a market, they are not
amortized. For key money that is only refundable upon certain conditions being met, the Group implemented a new accounting
policy in the second half of 2004 which has been applied retroactively to 1 January 2004. They are now treated as prepaid rents
and are no longer included under intangible assets. For comparison purposes, figures for the previous year have been restated.

No brands or patents have been valued. 

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition price over the net asset value of the acquired company on the date of acquisition
and is amortized in all cases over the estimated useful life. 
Goodwill resulting from acquisitions already carried out is amortized on a straight-line basis over its economic life, not exceeding 
20 years. 
Goodwill resulting from acquisitions on or after 31 March 2004 has not been amortized. Amortization is replaced by an annual impair-
ment test. As from this date, goodwill no longer includes identifiable intangible assets. These are now shown separately under the
appropriate line item.

Research and development costs
Research costs are recognized as ordinary expenses. Costs linked to development projects are recognized as intangible assets
provided future economic benefits are anticipated. Other development costs are recognized as ordinary expenses. Once a product
enters into commercial production, the capitalized development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of antic-
ipated earnings. The amortization period applied does not exceed five years.
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Tangible assets

Asset impairment

Leasing agreements

Inventories

Software development costs
Generally, costs associated with the development and maintenance of software are recognized as ordinary expenses. However, costs
directly associated with unique, identifiable software programs controlled by the Group and whose anticipated economic benefits
exceed annual costs, are recorded under intangible assets. Direct costs include expenses for the internal project development team.
Costs associated with improving software or extending its performance beyond the original specifications are capitalized as an asset
and added to the original cost of the software. The capitalized costs associated with the development of software are amortized using
the straight-line method over a period not exceeding five years.

Property, plant and equipment are valued at purchase price, less straight-line depreciation over the useful life of the investment. 
Land is recognized on the balance sheet at its acquisition cost.
The position «construction in progress» includes buildings under construction, down payments on land and buildings as well as
attributable borrowing costs.
Capitalized expenditures have been recognized in the balance sheet at full cost without profit margin.
The useful life assumed for determining straight-line depreciation is defined according to the following categories: 

– Furniture, office machinery, tooling, motor vehicles: 5 to 8 years
– IT equipment and software: 3 to 5 years
– Measuring instruments, tools, equipment for non-mechanical processing, automation components: 5 to 9 years
– Machines and mechanical production systems, workshop equipment: 9 to 15 years
– Factories and workshop buildings: 30 years
– Administrative buildings: 40 years
– Residential property: 50 years

At the end of the financial year, tangible and intangible assets are examined for any indication of impairment. If signs of impairment
are detected, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and an impairment loss recognized where the carrying value exceeds
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use. The latter is calcu-
lated by estimating the future cash flows generated by the asset and discounting them with a risk-adjusted interest rate. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful life and goodwill which were recognized based on transactions after 31 March 2004 are tested for
impairment on a yearly basis and when indications of impairment exist.

Finance leases
A finance lease is where the lessor transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of an instal-
lation, machine or item of equipment. At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are recognized in the balance sheet
at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment
is apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability with the finance charge being allocated to
each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The
obligation to make future lease payments, net of the finance cost, is included in other non-current liabilities. The finance cost is
considered as a charge over the term of the lease agreement. Installations, machines and equipment financed by such agreements
are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Operating leases
An operating lease is where ownership of the property and the inherent risks are mainly incumbent on the lessor. Operating lease
payments are recognized as expenses in the income statement on a linear basis throughout the term of the lease.

All inventories are valued at lower of total production cost to the Group or net realizable value.
Valuation is based on the weighted average price method. Some companies, particularly those in the Watch Production segment,
value their inventories using the standard cost method. As these costs are regularly reviewed and adjusted, this method approxi-
mates the same results as the weighted average price method. Less than 2% of the total value of inventories is valued using the first-
in, first-out method (FIFO).
Only economically justified criteria are taken into account when adjusting the balance sheet values of inventories. The valuation of
stocks of spare parts for customer service is confined to those units which are considered likely to be used, based on historical
demand.
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Trade receivables

Financial instruments

Trade receivables are recognized at their net realizable value, which corresponds to their fair value.

The Group applies the valuation principles defined in IAS 39. The classification of financial assets includes the following categories:

– Financial assets held for trading
– Loans and receivables originated by the company
– Held-to-maturity investments
– Available-for-sale investments

In view of Management’s long-term investment policy, the Group’s current investments are classified as available-for-sale invest-
ments. 
Financial investments are allocated to the various categories at the time of investment and are reviewed regularly.
Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for based on the settlement date principle. At the time of purchase, any transac-
tion costs are included in the price.
Available-for-sale investments are valued at their fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized directly in equity and are taken to
the income statement for the period (i.e. recycled) upon sale. Any impairment is also taken to the income statement. The Group
applies this accounting treatment consistently to the entire category. 

Investment and valuation policy
In its investment regulations, Group management has established criteria for assessing the impairment of financial investments.
The Group’s long-term investment policy coupled with its solid balance sheet structure both in terms of equity and liquidity enables
the Group to withstand prolonged downturns in the financial markets without having to liquidate financial assets. An assessment of
any durable impairment is made at the closing dates of 30 June and 31 December, wherever objective and substantial evidence might
indicate that an impairment is permanent. These regulations took effect on 1 January 2001, the date on which IAS 39 on financial
instruments came into force. 

Assessment criteria for impairment
The assessment of the permanency of an impairment is based both on «hard» factors (changes in fair value) as well as on «soft»
factors (qualitative assessment criteria). Accordingly, an assessment of impairment follows this sequence of criteria: 

«Hard factors» (changes in fair value):
To be included in the list of impaired assets, all financial investments subjected to constant assessment must present a minimum
diminution in value of 50% between their purchase prices and their fair value over a period of 24 months. Investments which meet
this criteria are subjected to the following procedure:
– If the investment’s quoted price is consistently lower than the value limit for the 24-month observation period, the position must

be subjected to an impairment test, which must also take the «soft» factors into consideration;
– If the investment’s quoted price exceeds the value limit during the observation period, the investment is withdrawn from the list

of impaired assets.
However, an impairment test, including «soft» factors, is systematically carried out on financial investments whose fair value is 90%
or more below their purchase price on the balance sheet date, irrespective of their term.
A basis for impairment has been established when evaluation of the financial investment concerned, including «soft» factors, does
not present sufficient positive potential for development.

The following criteria, among others, are considered as «soft» factors:
– Over the past 12 to 18 months, the financial investment must have exceeded the average performance of the peer group under

review;
– The majority of analyses and external analysts (Bloomberg consensus), as well as the Group’s own evaluation, all confirm a positive

medium-term development of the company in terms of results;
– The company has not undergone a significant deterioration in solvency or rating (S+P/Moody’s).
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Cash and cash 
equivalents

Provisions and 
contingent liabilities

Employee benefit 
obligations

The following events automatically give rise to impairment:
Financial investments in companies protected by Chapter 11, or involved in similar bankruptcy or legal protection procedures, must
be written down as soon as the facts pertaining to these investments are proven.

Cash and cash equivalents are recognized in the balance sheet at their nominal value. In the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include petty cash, credit notes and short-term bank overdrafts with maturities of up to 90 days. Bank loans are recog-
nized in the balance sheet under current and non-current borrowings.

Provisions are established when the Group has a current legal or factual obligation arising from past events and it is likely that an
outflow of funds will be required to cover such obligation. Furthermore, it must be possible to estimate the amount involved reliably.
A contingent liability is recognized when an outflow of funds is considered to be unlikely.

Post-employment benefits
Post-employment benefits with respect to the Group mainly relate to pensions and retirement benefits. Other post-employment
benefits for employees, such as medical care benefits, are not provided.
Similarly, the Group has not entered into other commitments entailing long-term benefits for its employees such as severance
packages.

Pensions and retirement benefits
Group employees receive retirement benefits provided by either defined contribution or defined benefit plans as provided for in the
applicable national or private pension schemes.
Pension plans are either funded, in which case their assets are managed separately and independently of those of the Group, or
unfunded, in which case these obligations are shown as a debt in the balance sheet. 
In all major instances, the obligation relating to defined benefit plans is determined on an annual basis by independent actuaries
and based on the projected unit credit method. The actuarial assumptions used in determining the benefits vary according to the
economic conditions prevailing in the country in which the benefit plans are located.
Group pension plans in Switzerland are defined under pension fund regulations as defined contribution plans. This means that the
employer contributions are determined in advance and that companies are neither obliged by way of statute nor by legal constraints
to make extra contributions in the event that the pension fund no longer possesses the necessary funds. These plans are
independent. 
Despite this, calculations made with the projected unit credit method have also been made for Swiss pension plans, which have been
accounted for as defined benefit plans.
Actuarial differences are essentially due to modifications made to assumptions and to the difference between results anticipated on
the basis of actuarial assumptions and the actual results of the defined benefit plans. Differences exceeding 10% of the higher of
the discounted value of the obligation and the fair value of assets at the beginning of the year under review are recognized in the
income statement. The charge to the income statement is based on the average remaining working life of the personnel in the plan
concerned.
Actuarial costs for plans considered as defined benefit plans and recognized in the income statement include the current service
costs, financial costs, the expected return on plan assets, past service costs and, if applicable, the actuarial differences.
The long-term assets of defined benefit plans are valued at their fair value. For such plans, a funding deficit or surplus, compared
with the discounted fair value of the obligations, is recognized as a liability or asset in the balance sheet by taking cumulated
actuarial differences, as well as past service costs not yet recognized in the income statement into consideration. However, a funding
surplus is only recognized to the extent that it may provide future financial benefits which will actually be available to the Group.
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized in the income statement in the year to which they refer.
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Employee stock option
plan

Dividends

1. Segment information
and gross sales

For a number of years, the Group has operated an employee stock option plan for management. Under the terms of this plan,
managers have the right to subscribe, in the future, for registered shares at a preferential price. The attribution of these rights is
based on assessments and proposals for managers and staff who have distinguished themselves throughout the year by a particu-
larly strong commitment to the company or an above-average performance. One-third of the shares attributed can be subscribed,
paid up and disposed of immediately, another third in one year, and the remaining third in two years. A tranche of treasury shares
has been specifically reserved for this stock option plan. When the options are exercised, Group shareholders’ equity increases by
the corresponding exercise price.

In compliance with Swiss law and with the Holding company’s articles of association, dividends are distributed from profits for the
year in which they are approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders and then paid out. 

NOTES

At a global level, the Swatch Group’s activities are organized into in four clearly distinct operating segments:

– Watches marketing of finished watches
– Watch production manufacture of watches and watch movements 
– Electronic systems design, production and marketing of electronic components
– General services services and finance companies, research and development, real estate companies

Gross sales to third-party clients are presented separately from sales to other operating divisions and internal Group sales are recog-
nized at fair value. Segment expenses are those which can be directly attributed to the segment. 
The assets of the segments largely comprise land and buildings, equipment and machinery, intangible assets, inventories, trade
accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents. However, they exclude consolidated investments in subsidiaries. Segment liabil-
ities include operating commitments. 
In line with common practice in the Watch segment, the geographical presentation of sales is broken down by continent. Both
turnover and unit sales are reported according to the destinations that appear on the invoices. Total third-party assets are broken
down by location. 
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3 135 514 494 9 4 152

770 49 2 –821 0

3 135 1 284 543 11 –821 4 152

598 166 125 –20 869

19.1 12.9 23.0 20.9

68.8 19.1 14.4 –2.3 100.0

555 50 74 –28 651

17.7 3.9 13.6 15.7

85.3 7.6 11.4 –4.3 100.0

–26

625

–107

518

–6

512

2 921 562 468 15 3 966

677 43 1 –721 0

2 921 1 239 511 16 –721 3 966

558 152 109 –14 805

19.1 12.3 21.3 20.3

69.3 18.9 13.5 –1.7 100.0

516 33 64 –19 594

17.7 2.7 12.5 15.0

86.9 5.5 10.8 –3.2 100.0

–1

593

–96

497

–5

492
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Income statement

Primary segment information (by business segment)

2004 Watches Watch Electronic General Elimination Total

(CHF million) production systems services

– Third parties

– Group

Gross sales

Operating result before depreciation 

and amortization (EBITDA)

– As a % of sales

– As a % of total

Operating result (EBIT)

– As a % of sales

– As a % of total

Net financial result

Result before taxes

Income tax

Result before 

minority interest

Minority interest

Net income

2003 Watches Watch Electronic General Elimination Total

(CHF million) production systems services

– Third parties

– Group

Gross sales

Operating result before depreciation 

and amortization (EBITDA)

– As a % of sales

– As a % of total

Operating result (EBIT)

– As a % of sales

– As a % of total

Net financial result

Result before taxes

Income tax

Result before 

minority interest

Minority interest

Net income
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2 709 1 264 412 1 622 6 007

3 1 4

2 709 1 267 412 1 623 6 011

800 265 70 600 1 735

1 909 1 002 342 1 023 4 276

205 82 20 8 315

29 109 43 3 184

14 6 4 4 28

2 4 6

2 361 1 299 442 1 509 5 611

3 1 4

2 361 1 302 442 1 510 5 615

685 247 71 596 1 599

1 676 1 055 371 914 4 016

68 127 63 8 266

26 114 40 5 185

14 5 3 22

1 1 2 4

2004 Watches Watch Electronic General Total

(CHF million) production systems services

Balance sheet

– Segment assets

– Equity in associated companies

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

Other information

Investments (including capitalized expenditure)

Depreciation on tangible assets

Amortization on intangible assets

Impairment

2003 Watches Watch Electronic General Total

(CHF million) production systems services

Balance sheet

– Segment assets

– Equity in associated companies

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

Other information

Investments (including capitalized expenditure)

Depreciation on tangible assets

Amortization on intangible assets

Impairment
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Balance sheet
and other information
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2004 2003

2004 2003

2004
2003

2004
2003

Segment share
of consolidated
gross sales

Segment share 
of operating result 
before depreciation 
and amortization
(EBITDA)

(CHF million)

Segment share 
of operating result
(EBIT)

(CHF million)

Segment share
of net assets

Electronic systems 12% Electronic systems 12%

General General 
services 0% services 0%

Watches 76% Watches 74%
Watch production 12% Watch production 14%

General services 24% General services 23%

Watches 45% Watches 42%
Watch production 23% Watch production 26%
Electronic systems 8% Electronic systems 9%

Watches

General services

Electronic systems

Watch production

Watches

General services

Electronic systems

Watch production

ANNEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

consolidated financial statements

swatch group  annual report 2004



130

2 109 5 137 153 2 136 4 930 227

471 200 5 475 216 6

1 465 648 156 1 263 447 32

68 26 1 56 22 1

39 36

4 152 6 011 315 3 966 5 615 266

2004 2003

2004 2003

2004 2003

America 18% America 19%

Asia 67% Oceania 0% Asia 65% Oceania 0%
Europe 15% Africa 0% Europe 16% Africa 0%

Europe 51% Europe 54%
Oceania 2% Oceania 1%
Africa 1% Africa 1%
America 11% America 12%
Asia 35% Asia 32%

Europe 86% Europe 88%

America 3% America 4%

Asia 11% Asia 8%

Oceania 0% Oceania 0%
Africa 0% Africa 0%
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Units

Sales

Total assets

Secondary segment information (by geographic area)

2004 2003

Sales Total Investments Sales Total Investments

(CHF million) Assets Assets

Europe

America

Asia

Oceania

Africa

Total
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2004 2003

America 4% America 4%

Oceania 0% Oceania 0%

Asia 32% Asia 30%
Europe 13% Europe 13%
Switzerland 51% Switzerland 53%
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2. Personnel expense

3. Research and 
development costs

4. Net financial result

5. Income tax

The average headcount in 2004 was 20 831. The headcount at year-end, expressed as the number of employment contracts, rose to
20 949. The number of employees with a Swiss employment contract fell by 126. The headcount abroad rose by a total of 375, mainly
in Malaysia (+132), Thailand (+119), Hong Kong (+49) and Korea (+44). Thus, at the end of 2004, the number of salaried staff with
Swiss contracts was 10 832, and the number working abroad with non-Swiss contracts was 10 117. The geographical distribution of
personnel was as follows:

The breakdown of employees by gender and the average annual number of employees with an employment contract (including home
workers, trainees and auxiliary staff) or with an apprentice contract, were as follows: 

2004 2003
Men 9 187 9 074
Women 11 762 11 626
Total at 31 December 20 949 20 700
Average annual headcount 20 831 20 707

During the year, the average headcount rose 0.6% while total payroll costs rose 1.2%. The Group’s average social security costs fell
slightly from 22.3% in 2003 to 21.6% in 2004. 

R&D spending diminished from CHF 157 million in 2003 to CHF 153 million in 2004, representing 3.7% of gross sales (compared with
4.0% in 2003). 

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Interest income 14 12
Income from investments 16 13
Financial income 30 25

Interest on convertible bond –14 –3
Other interest expense –9 –10
Financial expenses –23 –13

Foreign exchange differences on financial transactions –33 –13

Net financial result –26 –1

Impairment of available-for-sale investments 
Income from investments in 2004 included impairments of CHF 3.5 million (CHF 0.5 million at end-2003) calculated according to the
criteria described on page 124. 

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Current taxes 106 81
Deferred taxes 1 15
Total 107 96
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26 97 274 397 353 393

–1 –1 2 3

2 2 43 59

3 10 13 2 3

–20 –20 –5 –5

–4 4 2 2

27 90 274 391 397 455

–16 –57 –52 –125 –99 –109

1 1

–2 –11 –15 –28 –22 –27

17 17

–4 –4

–18 –50 –67 –135 –125 –140

9 40 207 256 272 315

Capitalized Other Goodwill Total 2004 Total 2003 Total 2003

development intangible restated published

(CHF million) costs assets (see page 118)

Historical cost, 1 January

Translation differences

Investments

Capitalized expenditure

Disposals

Transfers

Historical cost, 31 December

Accumulated depreciation, 1 January 

Translation differences

Annual depreciation

Depreciation on disposals

Transfers

Accumulated depreciation, 31 December

Net book value, 31 December
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6. Earnings per share

7. Intangible assets

The effective amount of tax paid on Group pre-tax earnings differs from the theoretical amounts calculated on the basis of the local
tax rates of the Group’s companies as follows: 

2004 2003
% %

Projected rate 18.0 18.0
Effect of the variance between applicable local tax rates and Group tax rate 3.9 1.8
Change in the applicable tax rate on temporary differences 0.3 0.1
Capitalization of tax assets from previous years and utilization of tax losses/unused tax credits –0.7 –0.7
Tax on non-tax-deductible items 0.5 0.1
Effect of items taxable at reduced rates –4.5 –3.1
Other items –0.4 0.0
Effective tax rate 17.1 16.2

Registered shares 2004 2003
Basic earnings per share, in CHF 1.77 1.69
Net result as per income statement, CHF million 219 210 
Average number of shares outstanding 123 787 740 124 732 274
Diluted earnings per share, in CHF 1.76 1.68
Net income excluding interest expense for convertible bond, CHF million 233 213
Average number of shares outstanding 132 187 740 126 832 274

Bearer shares
Basic earnings per share, in CHF 8.83 8.43
Net income as per income statement, CHF million 293 282
Average number of shares outstanding 33 211 158 33 462 950
Diluted earnings per share, in CHF 8.81 8.41
Net income excluding interest expense for convertible bond, CHF million 293 282
Average number of shares outstanding 33 211 158 33 462 950

Changes in intangible assets with reference to their relevant acquisition values are summarized in the following table: 
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774 2 212 284 28 25 3 323 3 158

–2 –12 –3 –17 2

1 1 12

163 76 32 3 1 275 183

17 17 21

–14 –64 –26 –104 –45

–24 –14 –1 –3 26 –16 –8

897 2 216 286 28 52 3 479 3 323

–422 –1 584 –184 –23 –9 –2 222 –2 070

7 2 9 –1

–17 –142 –24 –1 –184 –185

–5 –1 –6

4 65 25 94 24

15 39 –22 –14 18 10

–420 –1 620 –203 –23 –25 –2 291 –2 222

477 596 83 5 27 1 188 1 101

Land and Plant and Other Advances and Investment Total 2004 Total 2003

buildings machinery fixtures and construction property 

(CHF million) fittings in progress

Historical cost, 1 January

Translation differences

Acquisitions

Investments

Capitalized expenditure

Disposals

Transfers

Historical cost, 31 December

Accumulated depreciation, 1 January

Translation differences

Annual depreciation

Impairment

Depreciation on disposals

Transfers

Accumulated depreciation, 31 December

Net book value, 31 December
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8. Tangible assets Changes in tangible assets with reference to their relevant acquisition values are summarized in the following table: 

At 31 December 2004, total non-current assets pledged to guarantee the commitments of the Group companies represented CHF 3
million (CHF 11 million at end-2003).
At end-2004, fixed assets financed by leasing contracts and recognized as assets on the balance sheet amounted to less than CHF 2
million (less than CHF 2 million at end-2003).  
Impairment in the amount of CHF 6 million was charged on assets whose book value was greater than their net recoverable value.
The assets involved are chiefly related to a lithium-ion project for rechargeable batteries.

Fire-insurance values
Tangible assets were insured against fire for the following amounts:

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Buildings 1 414 1 425
Equipment 3 052 3 012
Total 4 466 4 437

The net value of tangible assets (including land) shown on the balance sheet at 31 December 2004 represented only 26.6% of the
insured value. 

(CHF million) Investments Other Total Total Total
in associated financial 2004 2003 2003

companies assets restated published
Balance at 1 January 4 43 47 35 10
Translation differences 1
Investments 8 8 17
Disposals –2 –2
Transfers to «Other receivables» –6 –6 –6
Balance at 31 December 4 43 47 47 10

9. Financial assets
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10. Inventories 

11. Trade receivables

12. Other receivables 
and prepayments 

Investments in associated companies
These are essentially investments by Swatch Group companies in other companies, resulting in the ownership of 20-50% of the voting
rights of these companies. In 2004, five such investments, Danyack SA, François Golay SA, Terbival SA, HiPoint Technology Inc., and
S.I. Les Corbes SA, were recognized using the equity method, since the Group exercised a significant influence over their activities.
The Swatch Group’s share in these companies generated after-tax income of less than CHF 0.1 million in 2004 (less than CHF 0.5
million in 2003). This income is recognized under the heading «Net financial result» .

Other financial assets Term Term Total
(CHF million) 1–5 years > 5 years
Key money 17 19 36
Guarantees, deposits 3 2 5
Other financial assets 2 2
At 31 December 2004 22 21 43
At 31 December 2003 22 21 43

Key money that the Group pays when renting shops in strategic locations, and that is not recovered at the end of the contract, is
recognized as prepaid rent. The long-term portion is recognized under «Other financial assets», while the short-term component is
transferred to «Other receivables and prepayments».

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Raw materials and components 535 465
Work in progress 465 431
Finished goods 477 442
Spare parts for customer service 138 143
Total 1 615 1 481

Inventories were 9% higher at end-2004 than a year earlier. This increase resulted from exceptionally strong sales growth in the
luxury watches segment and the launch of the «jewelry» business for several of the Group’s brands, notably Breguet, Omega, Léon
Hatot and cK. In addition, the expansion strategy pursued in the «retail» arm has also raised the volumes of inventories. 
Inventories with risk of obsolescence have been adjusted to their net realizable value. Adjustments of this nature accounted for CHF
19 million in 2004 (CHF 22 million in 2003). 

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Gross receivables 680 695
Provision for bad and doubtful debts –34 –33
Net receivables 646 662

The provision for bad and doubtful debts represents 5.0% (4.7% in 2003) of receivables outstanding and covers all risks identified at
closing date.  
The average payment term for trade receivables was nearly unchanged in 2004. Calculated on the basis of actual monthly sales, the
corresponding figure contracted slightly from 52 days at end-2003 to 49 days at end-2004. 

This heading covers numerous items and can be summarized as follows:

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Advances 20 42
VAT to be refunded 134 132
Taxes to be refunded 9 8
Accrued financial expenses 3 9
Prepaid advertising expenses 41 5
Assets held for sale 3 1
Sundry receivables and other accrued expenses 128 144
Total 338 341



135

ANNEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

consolidated financial statements

swatch group  annual report 2004

13. Available-for-sale
investments

14. Cash and cash 
equivalents

15. Capital structure

15.1 Capital

15.2 Authorized 
and conditional 
capital

15.3 Changes to 
share capital

16. Treasury shares

17. Provisions

Available-for-sale investments amounted to a total value of CHF 426 million in 2004 (CHF 321 million in 2003). These assets have an
active market and were recognized at fair value when the balance sheet was drawn up. 
The Swatch Group holds only short-term current financial assets (i.e. that can be liquidated within 12 months). 

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Current accounts and liquid assets 353 252
Short-term deposits with financial institutions 1 022 1 042
Total 1 375 1 294

The average yield on short-term bank deposits corresponds to the average interest rate on an investment on the capital and money
markets with a term of up to three months.
For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include the following items: 

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Cash and cash equivalents 1 375 1 294
Bank overdrafts –2 –5
Total 1 373 1 289

At end-2004 and at end-2003, the capital structure of The Swatch Group Ltd, the parent company of the Swatch Group, was as
follows:

137 051 327 registered shares at CHF 0.45 nominal value CHF 61 673 097.15
33 506 950 bearer shares at CHF 2.25 nominal value CHF 75 390 637.50

Total share capital at 31 December 2004 CHF 137 063 734.65 

The shares are fully paid up. The share capital structure remained unchanged in 2004. 

At end-2004, as at end-2003, there was no authorized or conditional capital. 

Over the past three years, the share capital of The Swatch Group Ltd has changed as follows:

Balance sheet date Registered shares Bearer shares Share capital  in CHF
31.12.2001 140 810 000 at CHF 0.45 34 264 500 at CHF 2.25 140 459 625.00
31.12.2002 137 051 327 at CHF 0.451) 33 506 950 at CHF 2.251) 137 063 734.65
31.12.2003 137 051 327 at CHF 0.45 33 506 950 at CHF 2.25 137 063 734.65
31.12.2004 137 051 327 at CHF 0.45 33 506 950 at CHF 2.25 137 063 734.65
1) Buyback of shares on the Group’s 2nd trading line and cancellation following the decision of the AGM of 7 June 2002: 3 758 673

registered shares and 757 550 bearer shares.

Shares of The Swatch Group Ltd held by the Group are recognized in the consolidated financial statements at their historical cost.
The value of these shares is charged against consolidated shareholders’ equity. In 2004, the Swatch Group resumed its share buyback
program targeting a maximum 2% of The Swatch Group Ltd’s share capital. In the context of this program, the Group acquired own
shares representing a market value of CHF 149 million. At the 2005 AGM of The Swatch Group Ltd, the Board of Directors will table
a resolution to cancel the share capital acquired under this program. 
Shareholders’ equity increased CHF 1 million in 2004, due to the sale of own shares from the stock option plan.
Details of the Swatch Group’s treasury shares are given in the appendix of the Holding’s financial statements (note 16). 
With the exception of movements relating to the special fund, all transactions involving treasury shares were recorded at fair value. 

(CHF million) Warranty Legal risks Other Total
At 31 December 2003 56 9 25 90
Additional provisions 59 3 10 72
Unused amounts –2 –1 –4 –7
Provisions used during the year –54 0 –4 –58
Other movements 0 0 –1 –1
At 31 December 2004 59 11 26 96

Analysis of total provisions (CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Provisions for more than one year 34 30
Current provisions 62 60
Total 96 90
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18. Borrowings

Warranty
In the majority of cases, the Group offers a two-year warranty covering the repairs or replacement of products that do not perform
to customers’ satisfaction. The provision made at year-end to cover future warranty costs is based on past experience with respect
to the volume of repairs and returns. 

Legal risks
Provisions have been allocated to cover lawsuits against the Group arising from the normal conduct of business. It is the view of
Group management, supported by appropriate legal advice, that none of the existing lawsuits will entail costs that significantly
exceed the amounts set aside at 31 December 2004. 

Other
Other provisions relate to various commitments of the Group companies toward third parties. The term and amount of payments made
from these provisions cannot be determined. 

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Non-current
Long-term bank debt 0 1
Convertible bond 393 390
Other long-term debt 2 3
Total 395 394

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Current
Current account overdrafts 2 5
Short-term bank debt 222 199
Total 224 204

(CHF million) 6 months or less 6–12 months 1–5 years over 5 years Total
At 31.12.2004 157 67 2 393 619
At 31.12.2003 137 67 0 394 598

At 31 December 2004, the weighted average interest rate on financial debt was below 2% (2% at end-2003) for maturities of less
than 12 months, and 3.5% (3.2% at end-2003) for long-term financial debt (i.e. more than 1 year). 

Convertible bond
On 15 October 2003, The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA issued convertible bonds valid from 15 October 2003 to 15 October
2010 and a coupon of 2.625%, for a total of CHF 411 600 000. During the conversion period, these bonds with a nominal value of 
CHF 5 000 may be converted into registered shares of The Swatch Group Ltd at CHF 49.00 each. 
The bond issue has been split into an equity and a liability component, recognized on the balance sheet under the corresponding
headings. The fair value of the liability component, recognized as long-term debt, was determined by reference to the market rate
(3.248% per year) of an equivalent non-convertible bond. The residual value (the conversion option) was recognized as shareholders’
equity. 
Until conversion or redemption of the bond issue, the liability component and all related adjustments will be accounted for using the
effective interest rate method. The equity portion was determined at the time of issue and will not be modified at a later date. 
The convertible bond issue is recognized as follows:

2004 2003
Nominal value of convertible bond 412
Value of the conversion option (shareholders’ equity) –16
Issuance costs –7
Liability component at 1 January (2003: at issue date) 390 389
Coupon interest at market rate 14 3
Coupon interest at 2.625% –11 –2
Liability component at 31 December 393 390

At 31 December 2004, no bonds had been converted. The closing rate of the convertible bond on the Swiss Stock Exchange at 
end-2004 was 107.42% (103.47% at end-2003).
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19. Deferred taxes 
(assets and liabilities)

20. Retirement benefit
obligations 
(post-employment
benefits)

Changes in deferred tax are as follows:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Balance at 1 January –221 –205
Translation differences and other movements –2 –1
Income statement (note 5) –1 –15
Balance at 31 December –224 –221

Deferred tax assets resulting from deductible temporary differences, tax credits or tax loss carry-forwards are only recognized if they
are likely to be used against future taxable income. 
The temporary differences for which no deferred taxes have been recognized, largely relate to tax loss carry-forwards that were not
recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These amounted to CHF 113 million at 31 December 2004 (CHF 106 million at
end-2003). 
In 2004, one third of the total value of deferred tax losses expire within six years (40% in 2003). The remainder are valid beyond six
years. 
The deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the following items on the consolidated balance sheet: 

Deferred tax assets

Source (CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Deferred losses/tax credits 13 16
Non-current assets 35 20
Current assets 89 72
Short-term debt 13 3
Provisions 6 4
Long-term debt 5 4
Total 161 119
Set-off –41 –23
Total deferred tax assets on the balance sheet 120 96

Deferred tax liabilities

Source (CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Non-current assets –111 –100
Current assets –167 –136
Short-term debt –3 –1
Provisions –104 –103
Long-term debt 0 0
Total –385 –340
Set-off 41 23
Total deferred tax liabilities on the balance sheet –344 –317

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset within legal entities as long as there is an enforceable legal right of set-off. 
The deferred tax assets and liability amounts (shown in the following table) are calculated after set-offs and were presented on the
consolidated balance sheet as follows:

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Deferred tax assets 120 96
Deferred tax liabilities –344 –317
Net total –224 –221

Defined benefit plans
The following table summarizes the financial situation of the major pension plans under the «defined benefit plans» heading. The
Swatch Group’s Swiss pension funds are also included in these figures. 
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Pension plans 2004 2003

CHF million CHF million

Present value of funded obligations

Fair value of plan assets

Asset/liability surplus at 31 December

Unrecognized actuarial difference

Present value of unfunded obligations

Unrecognized past-service cost

Unrecognized surplus due to IAS 19.58 B

Net liability in the balance sheet at 31 December

Amounts recognized in the income statement

Current service cost

Interest cost on obligations

Expected return on plan assets

Net actuarial losses/gains recognized current year

Past-service cost

Employee contributions

Impact of IAS 19.58 B

Total recognized in personnel expense

Change in the net asset/liability recognized in the balance sheet

Net asset/liability at 1 January

Net expense recognized in the income statement

Employer contributions paid

Net asset/liability at 31 December 

Actual return on plan assets

Expected return on plan assets

Actuarial difference on plan assets

Actual return on plan assets

Principal actuarial assumptions used 2004 2003

Discount rate

Expected return on plan assets

Salary increases due to inflation

Pension index
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21. Employee 
stock option plan

Furthermore, provisions have been made to cover the liabilities of the major Swiss pension funds. These commitments have been
calculated on the basis of the legal requirements governing occupational pensions. 
This heading also includes CHF 14 million (CHF 10 million in 2003) corresponding to other liabilities towards employees working
abroad. 

Defined contribution plans
Amounts recognized in the consolidated income statement relating to contributions to defined contribution plans represent the
employer’s future contributions and are calculated according to the regulations of various pension institutions. In 2004, these contri-
butions amounted to less than CHF 1 million (CHF 1 million in 2003).

When the Hayek Pool acquired control of the Swatch Group, a block of shares was reserved in 1986 for a management stock option
plan. At end-2004, this portfolio comprised 3 499 632 registered shares (3 742 200 at end-2003). In 2004, 242 568 registered shares
were awarded at a preferential price of CHF 4.00 per registered share (see details below).

Year of award to employees Number of Number of Year of subscription/ 
registered shares beneficiaries payment

2002 70 207 183 2004
2003 78 683 189 2004
2004 93 678 222 2004
Total 242 568

In addition, eligible members of management were granted the following rights to subscribe for further registered shares at a prefer-
ential price in the future: 

Year of award to employees Number of Number of Year of subscription/ 
registered shares beneficiaries payment

2003 80 291 193 2005
2004 89 156 219 2005
2004 90 260 219 2006
Total 259 707

In 2004, the members of the Executive Group Management Board and the Extended Group Management Board, with the exception
of the CEO and Managing Director of the Group’s Board of Directors, were awarded 126 604 registered shares (121 769 in 2003) at
the preferential price of CHF 4.00 per registered share (see details below).

Year of award to employees Number of Number of Year of subscription/ 
registered shares beneficiaries payment

2002 38 205 19 2004
2003 43 108 19 2004
2004 45 291 21 2004
Total 126 604

The following rights to subscribe in future for further registered shares at a preferential price have been given to this group of benefi-
ciaries. 

Year of award to employees Number of Number of Year of subscription/ 
registered shares beneficiaries payment

2003 43 134 19 2005
2004 45 291 21 2005
2004 46 218 21 2006
Total 134 643

Neither the members of the Board of Directors nor the CEO and Managing Director of the Board have ever received any stock options
or shares under this plan.
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22. Trade and other 
payables and accrued
expenses

23. Cash flow generated
from operations

24. Acquisition of 
companies

This position rose by CHF 79 million to CHF 646 million. These liabilities include the following debt and accruals:

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Debt, accruals for purchases of goods and services 236 225
Wages and social security costs 85 81
Sales reductions 21 18
Advertising 101 69
VAT due 27 18
Taxes 60 40
Advance payments 5 4
Other debt and accrued expenses 111 112
Total 646 567

«Accrued expenses» includes all charges relating to the period yet to be invoiced by third parties to Group companies. The main items
are wage costs, advertising and (for some companies) accrued taxes for the current year. These items rose from CHF 259 million at
end-2003 to CHF 326 million at end-2004, an increase of CHF 67 million.

Notes 2004 2003
CHF million CHF million

Net income  
Minority interest
Income tax
Depreciation of tangible assets 
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment charge
Profit/loss on sale of fixed assets
Fair value gains/losses on 
available-for-sale investments
Interest income
Interest expense
Changes in net working capital (without liquid funds):
– Inventories
– Trade and other receivables
– Trade payables and other current liabilities
Changes in provisions
Changes in pensions and other retirement benefits

Cash generated from operations

Effective as of 1 January 2004, the Swatch Group acquired the remaining 50% of the capital of Time Flagship SA in Lucerne, and the
remaining 46% of the capital of the real estate company S.I. L’Etang SA in Le Locle. Before this acquisition, Time Flagship SA was
proportionally consolidated as a joint venture. In 2003, The Swatch Group Ltd acquired 100% of the capital of the German company
Sokymat Automotive GmbH. 

The net assets and goodwill resulting from these acquisitions are detailed below:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Cash disbursements 0 37
Fair value of acquired net assets 0 0         
Goodwill 0 37
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0
Tangible assets 1 10
Inventories 1 1
Receivables 0 3
Debt –2 –14
Fair value of acquired net assets 0 0
Total acquisition costs 0 37
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired 0 0
Cash flow from acquisitions 0 37
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25. Derivative financial
instruments

26. Other reserves

27. Commitments, 
contingent assets 
and liabilities

The table below gives an overview of the contract and replacement values of derivative financial instruments on positions in precious
metals or denominated in foreign currency. 
The notes to the financial statements of the Holding on page 152 set out the contract and replacement values of the parent
company’s financial derivatives. Only third party values are used for the Group accounts. 

Type Contract Positive Negative 
(CHF million) value replacement value replacement value
Forward contracts 528 1 –2
Options 0 0 0
Total at 31.12.2004 528 1 –2
Total at 31.12.2003 909 11 –6

At 31 December 2004, the Group had no positions open (CHF 143 million in 2003). At 31 December 2004, the contract value of open
forward transactions was down CHF 238 million versus the previous year. 
As at end-2003, the Group had no cash-flow hedges outstanding.

(CHF million) Fair Equity Translation Total
value components and other

reserves of convertible differences
bond

Balance at 01.01.03 (restated; see page 117) –114 0 –20 –134
Translation differences and various movements –9 –9
Recognized in income statement –4 –4
Remeasurements to fair value 40 16 56
Tax effect –6 0 –6
Balance at 31.12.2003 –84 16 –29 –97

Translation differences and various movements –22 –22
Remeasurements to fair value –1 –1
Tax effect
Balance at 31.12.2004 –85 16 –51 –120

Guarantees and sureties
At end-2004, guarantees to third parties as security for commitments of Group companies amounted to less than CHF 2 million (less
than CHF 1 million at end-2003). 
At 31 December 2004, total current assets pledged by Group companies to guarantee their commitments amounted to CHF 5 million
(CHF 3 million at end-2003). 

Leasing, rental and other commitments 
Leasing commitments for the Group not recognized in the balance sheet are as follows:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Less than 1 year 54 50
Between 1 and 5 years 147 118
Over 5 years 107 89
Total 308 257

Proportion of contracts with renewal option (as a % of total amount) 56.4 60.2
Maximum risk (% of total amount) 90.7 84.9

The figures in the table below include all rental contracts for buildings, a major part of which relate to the Group’s retail business,
and to all other standard rental contracts existing at 31 December 2004. Leasing costs amounting to CHF 54 million were recognized
in the 2004 results (CHF 48 million in 2003). A sublease clause is included in a large number of rental contracts for retail shops.
Moreover, if the need arises, the Group may negotiate early termination of a lease contract with exit terms considerably more favor-
able than the payment of the entire commitment specified in the initial contract.
Other commitments entered into by the Group and ongoing at 31 December 2004 amounted to CHF 8 million (unchanged from the
previous year). These correspond to commitments to invest in financial assets. 
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28. Related party 
transactions

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and liabilities relate to past events, the outcome of which must be confirmed by future events, which are partially
beyond the Group’s control.
Some Group companies are involved in litigation arising from the normal course of their business and they may be liable to pay
compensation. The costs relating to these lawsuits may not be partially or fully covered by insurance. However, It is the view of the
Group’s management that the outcome of such litigation will not significantly affect the Group’s financial situation. 

In 2004, the Hayek Group invoiced an amount of CHF 12.4 million to the Swatch Group (compared with CHF 12.6 million in 2003). This
amount primarily covered support for Group management in the following areas of activity:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
– Audit, feasibility studies and process optimization 3.8 3.2
– Provision of managers and filling important, vacant functions 3.6 2.9
– Project management in the construction sector 1.7 2.4
– Introduction of cost accounting systems in manufacturing companies 0.6 0.9
– Support for projects in the materials and surface treatment technology sector 0.6 0.7
– Shop rental in the centre of Cannes (France) in a building of a subsidiary 

of the Hayek Group 0.4 0.3
– Various services relating to the assessment of investment projects, cost control, 

IT consulting, etc. 1.7 2.2
Total 12.4 12.6

Within the framework of the reorganization of clearly divided functions between a full-time position for the Chairman of the Board
and a separate position for the CEO of the Group, the management agreement entered into between the Swatch Group and the
Hayek Group was no longer in effect in 2004 and no financial compensation was paid during the year (previous year CHF 5.2 million).
A company of our minority shareholder in Singapore provided marketing and special events services for CHF 2.9 million (compared
with CHF 2.4 million in 2003). Of this amount, 93% is pure re-invoicing, as the company arranges specialized external services (media
and other services) and re-invoices the costs of the services.
Goods and services purchased from associated companies were as follows:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Goods purchased and subcontracting:
– François Golay SA 3 3
– Terbival SA 2 2
Total 5 5

Sales of goods and services to the above-mentioned associated companies as well as the positions still open with respect to these
partners at the end of 2004 and 2003 were less than CHF 1 million.

Group Management Board and Board of Directors: remuneration, shareholdings and loans
The total amount of remuneration of the executive members of the Board of Directors as well as the Group Management Board,
including the Extended Group Management Board, amounted to CHF 17.7 million in 2004 (2003: CHF 17.8 million) of which CHF 7.4
million was in salaries and CHF 10.3 million in bonuses based on performance and the results of the previous year. 
The following persons left the Group Management Board or the Extended Group Management Board during 2004: Mr Anton Bally,
Mr Jean-Claude Biver, Mr Heinz W. Pfeifer and Mr Michele Sofisti.
In 2004, CHF 0.8 million (2003: CHF 0.6 million) was paid to non-executive members of the Board of Directors (not including Mr N. G.
Hayek, Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors).

ANNEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29. Dividends

30. Post-balance-sheet
events

Remuneration granted to former members of management bodies
No remuneration was paid to former members of management bodies. 

Share allotment for the year
Under the management stock option plan mentioned in Note 21, 136 800 options to subscribe for registered shares at a price of 
CHF 4.00 each were allotted to members of the Group Management Board as well as to members of the Extended Group
Management Board (2003: 143 150 at CHF 4.00 per registered share) One-third of these shares can be subscribed, paid up and
disposed of immediately, another third in one year and the remaining third in two years.
Neither the members of the Board of Directors nor the CEO have ever received any stock options or shares from this plan.

Share ownership
At 31 December 2004, the executive members of the Board of Directors and the members of the Management Board of the Company
as well as the persons close to them held directly or indirectly a total of 54 890 907 registered shares and 81 040 bearer shares, repre-
senting 32.2% of the voting rights (previous year: 31.9%).
In addition, at 31 December 2004, all the non-executive members of the Board of Directors as well as the persons close to them held,
15 186 332 registered shares and 322 370 bearer shares, representing 9.1% of the voting rights (previous year: 9.0%).

Principal shareholders 
On 31 December 2004, The Hayek Pool and its companies and related entities held 62 017 071 registered shares and 312 498 bearer
shares, equivalent to 36.5% of the voting rights (previous year: 36.7%) of The Swatch Group Ltd, which is the parent company of the
Group. 
In the context of the pool, the group of Mr N.G. Hayek and related parties controlled in total 35.8% of the voting rights compared
with 35.8% at year-end 2003.
As of the same date, Mrs Esther Grether’s group controlled 8.0% of the voting rights (compared with 8.0% a year earlier).
The Swatch Group is not aware of any other group or individual shareholder with an interest exceeding 5% of the total share capital
of the Group.
Further information is provided in Note 16 on the accounts of the Holding Company.

Loans to members of the governing bodies
The employees of the company may take out a mortgage loan with the Swatch Group Pension Fund for the construction or acquisi-
tion of property in Switzerland (primary residence).
The conditions for these mortgage loans are set by the Swatch Group Pension Fund Foundation Board. These conditions are applied
in the same manner to all employees. At the end of 2004, three such loans had been granted to members of the Group Management
Board for a total of CHF 1.6 million (in 2003, three loans for a total of CHF 1.6 million). In addition, at the end of 2004, The Swatch
Group USA Inc. granted a loan for USD 0.1 million (USD 0.1 million at 31.12.2003) to the managing director of the subsidiary (who is
also a member of the Extended Group Management Board). This loan is secured by a mortgage and bears interest at 6.25%.

Dividends payable are not recognized until they are approved by the General Meeting. At the General Meeting on 18 May 2005, the
payment of the following dividends for 2004 will be proposed: 

Registered Bearer
Dividend per share CHF 0.35 CHF 1.75
Total dividend CHF 47 967 964 CHF 58 637 163

The financial statements ended 31 December 2004 do not take into account this proposed dividend. Dividends will be treated as a
distribution of available income during the financing year ending 31 December 2005.

There was no indication of significant new events which would necessitate a change in the presentation of the figures contained in
the financial statements for 2004 when this report was approved.
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SWITZERLAND
The Swatch Group SA, Neuchâtel Holding
Asulab SA, Marin-Epagnier Research and development
Atlantic Immobilien AG, Bettlach Real estate
Blancpain SA, Le Chenit Watches
Certina, Gebr. Kurth AG, Grenchen Watches
Chronométrage Suisse SA, Corgémont Sports timing
Comadur SA, Le Locle Products in hard materials
Compagnie des Montres Longines, Francillon SA, Saint-Imier Watches
Danyack SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Real estate
Dernier Batz SA, Neuchâtel Real estate
Diantus Watch SA, Mendrisio Watches, movements
Distico SA, Torricella-Taverne Distribution
Dress your body SA, Bienne Watches, jewelry
EM Microelectronic-Marin SA, Marin-Epagnier Microelectronics
Endura SA, Bienne Watches
ETA SA Manufacture Horlogère Suisse, Grenchen Watches, movements and components
Farco SA, Le Locle Real estate
François Golay SA, Le Chenit Manufacture of watch wheels
Frédéric Piguet SA, Le Chenit Movements
Groupe Habillage Haute Horlogerie SA, Saint-Imier Assembly
Hamilton International AG, Lengnau Watches
ICB Ingénieurs Conseils en Brevets SA, Marin-Epagnier Patents
Lasag AG, Thun Lasers for industrial applications
Léon Hatot SA, Bienne Watches
Louis Jeanneret-Wespy SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Real estate
Maeder-Leschot SA, Bienne Real estate
Manufacture Favre et Perret SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Watch cases
Manufacture Ruedin SA, Bassecourt Watch cases
Meco SA, Grenchen Watch crowns
Meseltron, Corcelles-Cormondrèche Real estate
Microcomponents AG, Grenchen Components for the automobile industry
Mido G. Schaeren & Co SA, Bienne Watches
Montres Breguet SA, L‘Abbaye Watches
Montres CK SA, Bienne Watches
Montres Jaquet Droz SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Watches
Nivarox-FAR SA, Le Locle Watch components and thin wires
Omega Electronics SA, Bienne Sports timing equipment, information display systems
Omega SA, Bienne Watches
Oscilloquartz SA, Neuchâtel High-stability frequency sources
Rado Uhren AG, Lengnau Watches
Record Watch Co. SA, Tramelan Inactive
Renata AG, Itingen Miniature batteries
Rubattel et Weyermann SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Watch dials
S.I. Grand-Cernil 2, Les Brenets, SA, Les Brenets Real estate
S.I. Grand-Cernil 3, Les Brenets, SA, Les Brenets Real estate
S.I. Les Corbes SA, Savagnier Real estate
S.I. L‘Etang SA, Les Brenets, Les Brenets Real estate
S.I. Rue de la Gare 2, Les Brenets, SA, Les Brenets Real estate
SMH Engineering AG, Grenchen Real estate
SSIH Management Services SA, Bienne Services and licences
Swatch SA, Bienne Watches
Swatch Telecom SA, Bienne Communication
Swatch Timing SA, Bienne Sports timing
Technocorp Holding SA, Le Locle Holding
The Swatch Group Distribution SA, Bienne Logistics and distribution
The Swatch Group Immeubles SA, Neuchâtel Real estate project and property management
The Swatch Group Les Boutiques SA, Lausanne Retailing
The Swatch Group Management Services SA, Bienne Services and licences
Terbival SA, Courchapoix Watch case polishing
Time Flagship AG, Luzern Retailing
Tissot SA, Le Locle Watches
Universo SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Watch hands
Valdar SA, Le Chenit Watch components

Company name, Registered offices Field of Activity Capital Swatch Group Consoli- Division
in millions Shareholdings dation

EUROPE %

THE SWATCH GROUP COMPANIES – as at 31.12.2004

Legend: Fully consolidated Watches
Equity method Watch production

Electronic systems
General services, R & D, real estate companies
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EUR 0.03 95 � �
EUR 0.03 100 � �
EUR 0.51 100 � �
EUR 0.10 100 � �
EUR 0.08 100 � �
EUR 0.50 100 � �
EUR 1.28 100 � �

EUR 0.20 100 � �

EUR 0.05 100 � �

EUR 0.04 100 � �

EUR 1.75 100 � �

EUR 2.09 100 � �

EUR 0.45 100 � �

EUR 6.10 100 � �
EUR 0.29 100 � �
EUR 1.80 100 � �
EUR 0.67 100 � �

EUR 3.80 100 � �
EUR 2.47 100 � �

EUR 12.10 100 � �
EUR 0.28 100 � �

GBP 2.00 100 � �

EUR 0.06 100 � �
EUR 0.06 100 � �

EUR 1.00 100 � �
EUR 0.01 100 � �
EUR 23.00 100 � �

EUR 0.12 100 � �

CHF 0.03 100 � �

CHF 1000.00 100 � �

EUR 0.02 100 � �
EUR 0.70 100 � �

PLN 1.40 100 � �

EUR 24.14 100 � �
EUR 0.10 100 � �

RUR 0.20 100 � �

SEK 0.50 100 � �

CZK 2.01 51 � �

GERMANY
Altweiler Grundstücks-GmbH, Lörrach Real estate
ETA Uhrwerke GmbH, Pforzheim Tools
Glashütter Uhrenbetrieb GmbH, Glashütte Watches
Sokymat Automotive GmbH, Reichshof-Wehnrath Transponders
Swiss Prestige Uhren Handel GmbH, Eschborn Inactive
The Swatch Group Customer Service (Europe) GmbH, Glashütte After sales service
The Swatch Group (Deutschland)  GmbH, Eschborn/Niederhöchstadt Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, 

Certina, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, 
Lasag, Renata, EM Marin, Micro Crystal) 

The Swatch Group (Deutschland) Les Boutiques GmbH, Retailing
Eschborn/Niederhöchstadt
Union Uhrenfabrik GmbH, Glashütte Watches

AUSTRIA
The Swatch Group (Oesterreich) GmbH, Wien Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Certina, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

BELGIUM
The Swatch Group (Belgium) SA, Bruxelles Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Certina, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, 
Swatch, Flik Flak, Omega Electronics) 

The Swatch Group Participation SA, Bruxelles Holding

SPAIN
The Swatch Group (España) SA, Madrid Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Certina, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, 
Swatch, Flik Flak)

FRANCE
Breguet SA, Paris Distribution
Fabrique de Fournitures de Bonnétage FFB SAS, Villers-le-Lac Watch components and precision parts
Frésard Composants SAS, Charquemont Watch components
Société Européenne de Fabrication d‘Ebauches d‘Annemasse Watch components and electronic assembly
(SEFEA) SAS, Annemasse
Tech Airport SAS, Paris Retail
The Swatch Group (France) SAS, Paris Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, 
Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, Endura) 

The Swatch Group (France) Les Boutiques SAS, Paris Retailing
Universo France SARL, Besançon Watch hands

GREAT BRITAIN
The Swatch Group (UK) Ltd, Eastleigh Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, 
Omega Electronics)

GREECE
Alkioni SA, Athens Retailing
The Swatch Group (Greece) SA, Athens Distribution (Breguet, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, Longines, 

Tissot, Certina, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak)

ITALY
Lascor S.p.A., Sesto Calende Watch cases and bracelets
The Swatch Group Europe Services S.r.l., Milano Administration
The Swatch Group (Italia) S.p.A., Rozzano Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Mido, Hamilton, 
Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, Renata) 

The Swatch Group (Italia) Les Boutiques S.p.A., Rozzano Retailing

LIECHTENSTEIN
Etablissement Voltax, Vaduz Intellectual property rights

LUXEMBOURG
The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA, Finance company
Société anonyme Holding, Luxembourg

NETHERLANDS
Breguet Investments BV, Rotterdam Holding
The Swatch Group (Netherlands) BV, Maastricht Distribution (Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Certina, 

Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

POLAND
The Swatch Group (Polska) Sp.z.o.o., Warszawa Distribution (Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Certina, 

Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch) 

PORTUGAL
The Swatch Group (Europa) – Sociedada Unipessoal SA, Funchal Distribution
The Swatch Group (Europa II) Retail – Sociedada Unipessoal SA, Retail
Funchal

RUSSIA
Swiss Watch Le Prestige OOO Russia, Moscow Distribution

SWEDEN
The Swatch Group (Nordic) AB, Stockholm Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Certina, 

cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

CZECH REPUBLIC
ASICentrum, Praha Microelectronics

Company name, Registered offices Field of Activity Capital Swatch Group Consoli- Division
in millions Shareholdings dation

EUROPE %

THE SWATCH GROUP COMPANIES – as at 31.12.2004
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CHF 0.02 100 � �
CHF 0.24 100 � �

BRL 4.93 100 � �
BRL 14.05 100 � �

CAD 4.50 100 � �

USD 0.04 100 � �
USD 0.00 100 � �
USD 0.17 20 � �
USD 0.10 100 � �
USD 168.80 100 � �

USD 0.00 100 � �
USD 0.13 100 � �

USD 0.01 100 � �

MXN 0.05 100 � �
MXN 43.65 100 � �

USD 0.07 100 � �
CNY 3.50 100 � �
CNY 1.66 100 � �

USD 0.50 100 � �
USD 0.20 90 � �
USD 0.00 100 � �
HKD 5.00 100 � �

TWD 0.50 100 � �

USD 9.00 100 � �

KRW3300.00 100 � �

INR 0.47 100 � �

JPY 200.00 100 � �

MYR 35.00 100 � �
MYR 0.50 51 � �

SGD 4.00 51 � �

THB 504.50 100 � �
THB 6.00 49 � �

THB 3.06 49 � �

AUD 0.40 100 � �

� �
� �

�
�

BERMUDA
The Swatch Group Finance (Bermuda) Ltd, Hamilton Finance company
The Swatch Group Re Ltd, Hamilton Reinsurance

BRAZIL
The Swatch Group do Amazonas SA, Manaus Assembly
The Swatch Group do Brasil Ltda, São Paulo Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Mido, 

cK Watch, Swatch)

CANADA
The Swatch Group (Canada) Ltd, Toronto Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

UNITED STATES
EM (U.S.) Design Inc., Colorado Microelectronics
e-swatch-us Inc., Delaware e-Commerce
HiPoint Technology Inc., Colorado Springs Microelectronics
Swatch Franchising Ltd., Delaware Franchising
The Swatch Group (U.S.) Inc., Dover, Delaware Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, 
Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, Lasag, Micro Crystal, 
Renata, Oscilloquartz) 

The Swatch Group Les Boutiques (U.S.) Inc, Dover, Delaware Retail
Unitime Industries Inc., Virgin Islands VI Inactive

BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS
Endura Services (Asia) Inc, British Virgin Islands Distribution

MEXICO
Prestadora de Servicios Relojeros SA de CV, Mexico DF Watch services
The Swatch Group (Mexico) SA de CV, Mexico DF Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Mido, 

cK Watch, Swatch)

ASIA
GREATER CHINA 
Lanco Watches Ltd, Hong Kong Inactive
Shanghai SMH Watch Service Center Co. Ltd, Shanghai After sales service
SMH International Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, Shanghai Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak)
SMH Les Boutiques (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, Shanghai Retail
SMH Swiss Watch Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, Shanghai Distribution (Omega, Rado)
The Swatch Group (Asia) Inc. Ltd, Hong Kong Commercial services
The Swatch Group (Hong Kong) Ltd, Hong Kong Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, 
cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, ETA)

The Swatch Group (Taiwan) Ltd, Taipei Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 
Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, 
cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak)

Zhuhai SMH Watchmaking Co. Ltd, Zhuhai Watches, movements,  components

SOUTH KOREA
The Swatch Group (Korea) Ltd, Seoul Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, 

cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

INDIA
Swatch Group (India) Private Ltd, New Delhi Distribution (Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Swatch, Flik Flak)

JAPAN
The Swatch Group (Japan) KK, Tokyo Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, 
cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, Endura) 

MALAYSIA
Micromechanics (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, Ipoh Assembly, watch components
The Swatch Group (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, Kuala Lumpur Distribution (Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, cK Watch, 

Swatch, Flik Flak) 

SINGAPORE
The Swatch Group S.E.A. (S) Pte Ltd, Singapore Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, 
Flik Flak) 

THAILAND
ETA (Thailand) Co. Ltd, Bangkok Movements and components
The Swatch Group Trading (Thailand) Ltd, Bangkok Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, cK Watch, 

Swatch, Flik Flak)
Wachirapani Co. Ltd, Bangkok Holding

OCEANIA
AUSTRALIA
The Swatch Group (Australia) Ltd, Prahran Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, cK Watch, 

Swatch, Flik Flak, Omega Electronics, Renata) 

swatch group  annual report 2004
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in millions Shareholdings dation
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THE SWATCH GROUP COMPANIES – as at 31.12.2004
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AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

consolidated financial statements
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Report of the group auditors
to the general meeting of
The Swatch Group Ltd,
Neuchâtel

As auditors of the group, we have audited the consolidated financial statements (income statement, balance sheet, statement of
cash flows, statement of changes in equity and notes – pages 113 to 146) of The Swatch Group Ltd for the year ended 31 December
2004.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional
qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession and with the International
Standards on Auditing, which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant
estimates made and the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and
the cash flows in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Th. Brüderlin G. Siegrist

Basel, 30 March 2005
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2004 2003

(1) 330 306

(2) 43 75

(3) 7 7

380 388

(4) –32 –34

(5) –10 –11

(6) –1 –27

(7) –14 –13

(8) –26 –26

(9) –2 –2

–85 –113

295 275

financial statements of the holding
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Notes CHF million CHF million

Income from investments in subsidiaries

Financial income

Other income 

Total income

Personnel expense

General expenses

Depreciation and impairment

Interest expense

Exchange differences and other financial expenses

Taxes

Total expenses 

Net income

INCOME STATEMENT OF THE HOLDING
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(10)

8 0.3 8 0.3

2 0.1 2 0.1

(11) 51 1.9 42 1.6

(12) 1 738 65.8 1 949 75.6

1 799 68.1 2 001 77.6

(13) 2 0.1 3 0.1

(13) 4 0.1 8 0.3

(14) 369 14.0 281 10.9

(15) 431 16.3 265 10.3

37 1.4 19 0.8

843 31.9 576 22.4

2 642 100.0 2 577 100.0

Assets 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Notes CHF million % CHF million %

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment:

– Land and buildings

– Furniture and equipment

Financial assets:

– Long-term loans to Group companies

– Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Realizable assets:

– Other receivables

– Accrued income and prepaid expenses

– Short-term receivables from Group companies

– Securities and precious metals

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

BALANCE SHEET OF THE HOLDING
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137 5.2 137 5.3

67 2.5 67 2.6

518 19.6 369 14.3

859 32.5 818 31.8

19 19

295 275

314 11.9 294 11.4

(16) 1 895 71.7 1 685 65.4

(17) 114 4.3 114 4.4

(18)

65 2.5 67 2.6

544 20.6 693 27.0

9 0.3 9 0.3

(18) 15 0.6 9 0.3

633 24.0 778 30.2

2 642 100.0 2 577 100.0

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Notes CHF million % CHF million %

Shareholders’ equity:

– Share capital

– General reserve

– Reserve for treasury shares

– Special reserve

– Profit brought forward

– Net income for the year

– Profit available for distribution

Total shareholders’ equity

Provisions

Short-term debt:

– Banks

– Group companies

– Other liabilities

Accrued expenses

Total short-term debt and accrued expenses 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

BALANCE SHEET OF THE HOLDING
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ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The 2004 financial statements of The Swatch Group Ltd have been prepared on a going concern basis, in accordance with the
principle of materiality and using the accrual method of accounting. The statements conform to Swiss law and generally accepted
accounting practices in Switzerland.

Valuation principles
The valuation basis for the financial statements is historical value. Investments are recognized in the balance sheet at their acquisi-
tion cost. The following financial instruments are exempt from this rule:

– Tradeable securities are valued at the last recorded market closing price;
– The following shares have not been restated to fair value: treasury shares reserved for the management stock option plan and

shares bought back by the company and due to be cancelled.

Foreign currency translation
All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated at the exchange rates applicable on the balance
sheet closing date. Income and expenses denominated in foreign currencies and all foreign exchange transactions are translated at
their spot rates on the day or, in the case of intra-group transactions, at a pre-determined rate set by The Swatch Group Ltd’s treasury
department.

GENERAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Contingent liabilities
At the end of 2004, guarantees provided by The Swatch Group Ltd amounted to CHF 477 301 000 (compared with CHF 488 115 500 a
year earlier). This position includes: 
– A guarantee of CHF 476 427 000 (2003: CHF 487 231 500) relating to the convertible bond of CHF 411 600 000 at 2.625%, valid from

15 October  2003 to 15 October 2010, issued by The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA. At the end of 2004, none of these
bonds had been converted into shares;

– As in 2003, a guarantee of GBP 400 000 (equivalent to CHF 874 000 on 31 December 2004; CHF 884 000 on 31 December 2003) to
cover a commitment relating to a lease taken out by one of the companies of the Group.

Assets pledged
None of the company’s assets are pledged.

Commitments, contingent assets and liabilities
Other commitments entered into by the company and open at 31 December 2004 amount to CHF 6 million (previous year CHF 7
million), corresponding to investment commitments in financial assets.

Financial derivative instruments
The following table presents the contract and replacement values of derivative financial instruments on 31 December 2004.

Type Contract value Positive Negative 
replacement value replacement value

(CHF million) Third Group Total Third Group Total Third Group Total
party party party

Forward contracts 528 384 912 1 1 2 –2 –2 –4
Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total at 31.12.2004 528 384 912 1 1 2 –2 –2 –4
Total at 31.12.2003 909 370 1 279 11 1 12 –6 –3 –9

Derivative financial instruments are recognized at fair value. Positions outstanding on 31 December 2004 serve to hedge operating
risks relating to exchange rates and market volatility. Forward contracts outstanding at 31 December 2004 relate to positions held in
precious metals and in 14 foreign currencies (previous year: 15). Intra-group contracts relate to agreements between The Swatch
Group Ltd and Group companies for the hedging of risks relating to intra-group financial transactions. At 31 December 2004, there
were no options outstanding. Replacement values are recognized under accrued assets and liabilities.

The balance sheet as at the end of 2004 and 2003 does not contain any liabilities to pension plans.

Off-balance-sheet items

Liabilities to pension plans

financial statements of the holding

swatch group  annual report 2004



153

ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

1. Income from 
investments in 
subsidiaries

2. Financial income

3. Other income

4. Personnel expense

5. General expenses

6. Depreciation 
and impairment

7. Interest expense

8. Exchange differences
and other financial
expenses

9. Taxes

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

The Swatch Group Ltd’s earnings were CHF 20 million higher in 2004 (+7.3%) than in the previous year. This increase was mainly
attributable to higher income from investments in subsidiaries (CHF 24 million) and lower depreciation expenses and impairment
(CHF 26 million), partially offset by a decline in financial income (CHF 32 million) (see 1, 2 and 6 below).

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Dividends 291 271 
Other income 39 35 
Total 330 306

This item includes dividends from Group companies and other income from investments in associates.

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Interest income 9 9 
Income and gains on securities 34 66
Total 43 75

Interest income remained stable compared with the year-earlier period. The company recorded capital gains of CHF 34 million on its
investment portfolio. This figure was partially offset by losses amounting to CHF 13 million (see note 8). The net result, although
positive, reflects the less favorable performance of the financial markets during 2004 in comparison to 2003. 

This item is mainly comprised of internal cross-charges for services supplied to companies within the Group, and income related to
the management of the AVS agencies. It also includes revenue from real estate. 

In 2004, this item declined by 5.9%, a reduction of CHF 2 million compared with 2003. This was mainly due to the effect of new condi-
tions in the management contract between the Group and a related party.

General expenses were down by CHF 1 million compared with 2003. The bulk of these costs consist of administrative and manage-
ment fees.

Depreciation and impairment was CHF 26 million less than in 2003. This sharp reduction was the direct consequence of impairment
charges on two subsidiaries outside Switzerland in 2003.

In 2004, interest expense was CHF 1 million higher than in 2003. However, the overall low level of this item reflected the low interest
rates prevailing in the capital markets during the year.

This item remained stable compared with the previous year. Despite currency hedging contracts taken out to protect the Group’s
different companies, the currency translation item was negative by CHF 13 million (2003: CHF 14 million). The loss recorded on the
securities portfolio amounted to CHF 13 million (2003: CHF 12 million). However, this was more than offset by gains of CHF 34 million
(Note 2) (2003: CHF 66 million).

Despite increased income for the year, taxes did not increase, due to the company’s participation exemption.

financial statements of the holding
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ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE BALANCE SHEET

Fire-insurance values
At 31 December 2004, property, plant and equipment was insured against fire for a value of CHF 32 069 100 (vs. CHF 31 078 100 at
31 December 2003).

Long-term loans were granted principally to the Group’s subsidiaries. 

The list of the 134 legal entities, including minority investments, held directly or indirectly by the Holding company and consolidated
at Swatch Group level is published on pages 144 to 146 of this report.
Investments in subsidiaries accounted for 65.8% of total assets on 31 December 2004 versus 75.6% at the end of 2003. In absolute
figures, the value of investments in subsidiaries amounted to CHF 1 738 million at the end of 2004. This was CHF 211 million lower
than a year earlier, following the transfer of a holding to one of the Group’s subsidiaries in connection with a re-organization of the
Group’s legal structure. This overall sum corresponds exclusively to consolidated investments. The principal changes in the value of
investments in the balance sheet in 2004 were as follows: 

– Liquidation of the company SMH Ltd – Ireland, Dublin;
– Establishment of The Swatch Group (Polska) Sp. z.o.o., Warsaw, and of The Swatch Group (Taiwan) Ltd, Taipei;
– Capital increase by the companies Lascor S.p.A., Sesto Calende, The Swatch Group (Canada) Ltd, Toronto, The Swatch Group

(Italia) S.p.A., Rozzano, and Glashütter Uhrenbetrieb GmbH, Glashütte;
– Sale of The Swatch Group Finance (Bermuda) Ltd, Hamilton to a Group subsidiary;
– Reclassification of the property company S.I. Les Corbes SA, Savagnier;
– A «merger by absorption» of two of the Group’s Swiss companies. This merger was in full compliance with article 748 of the Swiss

Code of Obligations in force at the time of the operation.

At 31 December 2004, accrued income and prepaid expenses were CHF 4 million lower than a year earlier. This item essentially
consists of the positive replacement value of derivative financial instruments. 

The Swatch Group Ltd provides part of the financing for the different companies in the Group. At the end of 2004, the total value of
these loans outstanding was CHF 83 million higher than a year earlier. 

This item includes gold and other precious metals intended to meet the industrial needs of the Group’s subsidiaries and which at 
31 December 2004 represented a total value of CHF 43 million (CHF 20 million at year-end 2003). At the end of 2004 the value of the
equity portfolios was CHF 388 million compared with CHF 245 million a year earlier. The main contributing factor to the change in
the overall value of the equity portfolios was the buyback of own shares for an amount of CHF 149 million.
The «Securities» item also includes registered treasury shares destined for the special management stock option plan which, as in
the previous year, are valued «pro memoria». There are also treasury shares which are due to be cancelled if the proposal of the Board
of Directors to reduce capital is approved at the 2005 AGM. 
The total value of treasury shares held by other consolidated companies amounts to CHF 291 million (CHF 255 million at 31 December
2003). These shares are mainly destined to cover the convertible bond issued by The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA.
In the Holding company accounts and in the statutory financial accounts of the other consolidated companies, the assets under the
«Treasury shares» item are valued in the following way: 
– Paid-in capital: the share price on 31 December 2004;
– Special funds and blocked shares, plus own shares due to be cancelled: these shares are not marked to market.
In the consolidated financial statements, the total value of the treasury shares, valued at their historical cost, is deducted from share-
holders’ equity.
The reserve for treasury shares under liabilities in The Swatch Group Ltd’s balance sheet is valued using the weighted average
purchase price method (note 16). 

The total value of treasury shares held by The Swatch Group Ltd in its books and through its subsidiaries at 31 December 2004
corresponded to 5.4% (versus 4.1% at year-end 2003) of the nominal value of its total equity capital. 
A table showing changes in the The Swatch Group Ltd’s treasury stock is published on page 156.

10. Property, plant and
equipment

11. Long-term loans

12. Investments 
in subsidiaries

13. Other receivables,
accrued income and
prepaid expenses

14. Short-term receivables
from Group companies

15. Securities and 
precious metals

16. Shareholders’ equity
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ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

The table below shows the development of equity capital (in millions of Swiss francs):

(CHF million) Share General Treasury Special Profit Total 
capital reserve share reserve available share-

reserve for holders’
distribution equity

Balance at 31.12.2003 137 67 369 818 294 1 685
Allocated in 2004 190 –190 0
Allocation to reserve for the 149 –149 0
buyback of own shares
Dividend paid out –85 –85
Net income for the year 295 295
Balance at 31.12.04 137 67 518 859 314 1 895

Compared to year-end 2003, shareholders’ equity increased a further CHF 210 million to CHF 1 895 million during 2004, accounting
for 71.7% of total assets at 31 December 2004 (versus 65.4% at year-end 2003).
In 2004, the Swatch Group resumed its share buyback program targeting a maximum 2% of The Swatch Group Ltd’s share capital. At
the 2005 Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors will propose that the share capital be reduced by the amount of the shares
repurchased under this program. In order to comply with Swiss legislation requiring all the treasury shares held by a group to be
financially covered, a part of the special reserve was transferred to the treasury share reserve to make up the full amount required.

Share capital
At 31 December 2004, there was no change in the value of share capital compared to a year earlier. It consists of 137 051 327 regis-
tered shares each with a nominal value of CHF 0.45 and of 33 506 950 bearer shares each with nominal value of CHF 2.25. 

Principal shareholders on 31 December 2004
On 31 December 2004, The Hayek Pool and its companies and related entities held 62 017 071 registered shares and 312 498 bearer
shares, equivalent to 36.5% of the voting rights (previous year: 36.7%). The Hayek Pool comprises the following members:

Name/Company Location Beneficial owner
Mr N. G. Hayek Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
WAT Holding AG Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
Ammann Group Holding AG c/o Ernst & Young AG, Bern J.N. Schneider-Ammann 

(Chairman and delegate)
U. A. Ammann (Board Member)

Swatch Group Pension Fund Neuchâtel –

The companies and institutions close to the Hayek Pool, but which do not formally belong to the Hayek Pool are:

Name/Company Location Beneficial owner
Hayek Holding AG Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
Mr N. G. Hayek and family members N. G. Hayek
Personalfürsorgestiftung der Meisterschwanden –
Hayek Engineering AG
Ammann families (pension funds, c/o Ernst & Young AG, Bern Represented by
foundations and individuals, Madisa AG) J. N. Schneider-Ammann
Fondation d’Ébauches SA et Neuchâtel –
des maisons affiliées
Fondation de Technocorp Holding SA Le Locle –

In the context of the pool, the group of Mr N. G. Hayek and related parties controlled in total 35.8% of the voting rights at year-end
2004 (35.8% at end-2003), of which 3.8% are represented by the Hayek Pool (4.2% at end-2003).
As of the same date, Mrs Esther Grether’s group controlled 8.0% of the voting rights (compared with 8% a year earlier).
The Swatch Group is not aware of any other group or individual shareholder with an interest exceeding 5% of total share capital.

Treasury share reserve
The reserve for treasury shares was valued according to the weighted average purchase price method. In the Holding balance sheet,
it amounted to CHF 518 million on 31 December 2004 (previous year CHF 369 million), and thereby covers the treasury shares
recognized as assets in the balance sheets of the Group companies at the end of the year.
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ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

The number of treasury shares held directly or indirectly by The Swatch Group Ltd changed as shown in the table below during 2004:

Shares held by: Registered shares Bearer shares
Quantity*) Quantity

The Swatch Group Ltd
Balance at 31.12.2003 3 757 040 0
Acquisitions in 2004 2 140 000 449 500
Disposals in 2004 –242 569 0
Balance at 31.12.2004 5 654 471 449 500
Other consolidated companies
Balance at 31.12.2003 8 405 714 44 000
Acquisitions in 2004 0 0
Disposals in 2004 0 0
Balance at 31.12.2004 8 405 714 44 000
Total balance at 31.12.2004 14 060 185 493 500

*) of which 3 499 632 registered shares were reserved for the management stock option plan at year-end 2004 (3 742 200 shares 
in 2003).

Apart from movements related to the special funds, all the transactions involving treasury shares were recognized at fair value. The
average price per registered share bought in 2004 was CHF 34.36 and the average price per bearer share was CHF 168.03. 

Profit available for distribution
In compliance with the resolution approved at the Annual General Meeting of 27 May 2004, a dividend of CHF 0.29 per registered
share and of CHF 1.45 per bearer share was appropriated from profit available for distribution as at 31 December 2003. The total
dividend amount paid to shareholders in 2004 came to CHF 39 744 885 on the registered shares and CHF 48 585 077 on the bearer
shares. In accordance with the resolution relating to the use of profit available for distribution approved by the above-mentioned
AGM, no dividends were paid on the treasury shares held by the Swatch Group. This sum, which would have amounted to 
CHF 3 796 898, thus constituted an integral part of shareholders’ equity on 31 December 2004. Finally, the sum of CHF 190 million
was appropriated from profit available for distribution on 31 December 2003 and allocated to the special reserve.

The total amount of provisions was unchanged compared to 2003.

Compared to the previous year, short-term debt decreased by CHF 151 million. This was mainly due to a reduction in loans from Group
companies. Accrued expenses and deferred income consist essentially of negative replacement values of derivative financial instru-
ments and other transitory liabilities. The item «Accrued expenses and deferred income» was CHF 6 million higher than a year earlier.

17. Provisions

18. Short-term debt and
accrued expenses 
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2004 2003

CHF CHF

294 688 643 274 653 538

19 399 292 19 278 818

314 087 935 293 932 356

–200 000 000 –190 000 000

–39 744 885

–48 585 077

–47 967 964

–58 637 163

3 796 898

7 482 808 19 399 292

PROPOSAL FOR APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT AVAILABLE  FOR DISTRIBUTION

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that profit available for distribution be appropriated as follows:

Net income for the year 

Profit brought forward

Profit available for distribution

Allocation to special reserve

Dividend payment for 2003 on share capital of CHF 137 063 734.65

– CHF 0.29 per registered share with a nominal value of CHF 0.45

– CHF 1.45 per bearer share with a nominal value of CHF 2.25

Payment on share capital of CHF 137 063 734.65 *)

of a 2004 dividend, i.e.:

– CHF 0.35 per registered share with a nominal value of CHF 0.45

– CHF 1.75 per bearer share with a nominal value of CHF 2.25

Dividends not paid out on own shares held by the Group **)

Balance carried forward

*) It is planned not to pay dividends on own shares held by the Group

**) Based on the decision of the Annual General Meeting of 27 May 2004, the dividend due on own shares held by the Group was not paid out.
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Report of the statutory auditors

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements (income statement, balance sheet and
annex – pages 149 to 157) of The Swatch Group Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2004.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-
cial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and
independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession, which require that an audit
be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstate-
ment. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. We have also
assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appropriation of available earnings comply with
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Th. Brüderlin G. Siegrist

Basel, 30 March 2005

Report of the 
statutory auditors to the
general meeting of
The Swatch Group Ltd,
Neuchâtel
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123 787 740 132 187 740 124 732 274 126 832 274 124 543 989 127 710 075 126 195 263 132 338 963

33 211 158 33 211 158 33 462 950 33 462 950 33 462 467 34 047 207 34 241 620 34 241 620

156 998 898 165 398 898 158 195 224 160 295 224 158 006 455 161 757 282 160 436 883 166 580 583

55 704 483 59 484 483 56 129 523 57 074 523 56 044 795 57 469 534 56 787 868 59 552 533

74 725 106 74 725 106 75 291 638 75 291 638 75 290 550 76 606 216 77 043 645 77 043 645

130 429 589 134 209 589 131 421 161 132 366 161 131 335 345 134 075 750 133 831 513 136 596 178

2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 2000

1.77 1.76 1.69 1.68 1.69 1.69 1.84 1.80

2.36 2.29 2.15 2.13 1.94 2.09 2.02 1.98

14.70 14.29 13.72 13.62 12.19 10.94 10.61 10.40

0.35 * 0.35 * 0.29 0.29 0.22 0.20 0.55 0.55

2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 2000

8.83 8.81 8.43 8.41 8.47 8.46 9.18 8.99

11.79 11.46 10.73 10.66 9.70 10.45 10.12 9.92

73.51 71.44 68.58 68.09 60.97 54.72 53.06 51.99

1.75 * 1.75 * 1.45 1.45 1.10 1.00 2.75 2.75

36.50 36.50 30.60 30.60 36.85 43.50 54.70 54.70

27.20 27.20 19.15 19.15 20.45 19.40 31.80 31.80

33.80 33.80 29.50 29.50 23.40 32.90 42.30 42.30

180.50 180.50 152.75 152.75 173.00 214.00 273.90 273.90

130.00 130.00 93.70 93.70 99.25 91.00 157.70 157.70

166.90 166.90 148.50 148.50 115.00 149.25 202.50 202.50

10 225 10 225 9 019 9 019 7 060 9 747 12 895 12 895

2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 2000

12.4 12.7 13.0 13.1 14.5 15.7 18.7 18.7

1.0 * 1.0 * 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.6 1.3 1.3

1.0 * 1.0 * 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.7 1.4 1.4

19.1 19.2 17.5 17.6 13.8 19.4 23.0 23.5

18.9 18.9 17.6 17.7 13.6 17.6 22.1 22.5

1 225 514 UHRN.VX

1 225 515 UHR.VX

Average number of shares outstanding/ 2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 2000

Average share capital basic diluted basic diluted basic/ basic/ basic diluted

diluted diluted

Number of registered shares of CHF 0.45

Number of bearer shares of CHF 2.25

Total average number of shares oustanding

Share capital registered shares of CHF 0.45

Share capital bearer shares of CHF 2.25

Total average share capital

Key data per registered share 

(nom CHF 0.45) in CHF

Consolidated net income

Cash flow from operating activities

Consolidated shareholders’ equity

Dividend

Key data per bearer share 

(nom CHF 2.25) in CHF

Consolidated net income

Cash flow from operating activities

Consolidated shareholders’ equity

Dividend

Stock price of registered shares 

(adjusted) High

Low

End of year

Stock price of bearer shares 

(adjusted) High

Low

End of year

Market capitalization (CHF million) End of year

Key ratios (year-end)

Average return on equity %

Dividend yield registered shares %

Dividend yield bearer shares %

Price/earnings ratio – registered shares

Price/earnings ratio – bearer shares

Securities Securities no. Reuters Symbol

The Swatch Group Ltd registered shares

The Swatch Group Ltd bearer shares

The securities are listed on the Swiss Stock Exchange (SWX) and traded on the virt-x.
* Board of Directors’ proposal.

THE SWATCH GROUP LTD SECURITIES
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COPYRIGHT 2005, THE SWATCH GROUP LTD

THE SWATCH GROUP LTD SECURITIES

EVOLUTION OF THE SWATCH GROUP LTD REGISTERED SHARES 
AND THE SWISS MARKET INDEX

(indexed weekly from 01.07.1988 to 31.12.2004 – adjusted)

The Swatch Group Ltd

Swiss Market Index
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